Lecture Notes

Nalini Anantharaman June 2007

Eigenfunctions of the laplacian on negatively curved manifolds : a semiclassical approach.

Table of contents

1	An	introduction to semiclassical analysis.	3
	1.1	Mechanics.	3
		1.1.1 Three approaches to classical mechanics	3
		1.1.2 Quantum/wave mechanics	7
	1.2	Weyl quantization.	12
	1.3	Born's probabilitic interpretation of the Schrödinger equation.	13
	1.4	The semiclassical limit	14
		1.4.1 Fourier transform	14
		1.4.2 The stationary phase method	15
		1.4.3 Pseudodifferential operators	16
	1.5	Semiclassical measures, microlocal lifts	21
2	Ent	ropy and localization of eigenfunctions.	25
	2.1	Motivations	25
	2.2	Main result.	29
	2.3	Definition of entropy, and main idea of the proof	32
3	The	e entropic uncertainty principle.	35
	3.1	The abstract result	35
	3.2	applied to eigenfunctions of the laplacian	38
		3.2.1 Smooth partition of unity	38
		3.2.2 Refinement of the partition under the Schrödinger flow.	39
		3.2.3	39
		3.2.4 The main estimate	40
		3.2.5 Technical variant of the entropic uncertainty principle.	41
		3.2.6 Applying the entropic uncertainty principle	41
	3.3	and the conclusion	43
		3.3.1 End of the proof \ldots	44
4	Wŀ	XB methods.	46
	4.1	Lagrangian submanifolds of T^*X and generating functions.	46
	4.2	Lagrangian distributions.	49
	4.3	WKB description of the operator $U^t = \exp(it\hbar\frac{\Delta}{2})$.	50
	4.4	Proof of the main estimate.	52

4.4.1	Decomposition of $Op(\chi)u$ into truncated delta-functions.	52
4.4.2	The Ansatz for $n = 1$	53
4.4.3	Iteration of the WKB Ansätze	54
4.4.4	Conclusion	57

Chapter 1

An introduction to semiclassical analysis.

1.1 Mechanics.

1.1.1 Three approaches to classical mechanics.

The variational approach. The Maupertuis or Euler principle [M1744, E1744] is the mechanical analogue of the Fermat principle in optics: a solid of mass m = 1, moving under the effect of a force F = -grad V, with a total energy E, follows a trajectory γ which minimizes the action

$$S(\gamma) = \int \sqrt{2(E - V(\gamma))} \|d\gamma\|$$
(1.1)

among all curves with the same endpoints, and under the constraint that $\frac{\|\dot{\gamma}(t)\|^2}{2} + V(\gamma(t)) = E$ for all t. More precisely, we should look for critical points of S, among all paths with given endpoints, and constant total energy E. Say we work on a Riemannian manifold (X,g), and $\|.\|_x$ is the norm defined on $T_x X$ by the riemannian metric : $\|v\|_x^2 = g_x(v,v)$. In other words, the Maupertuis principle says that the trajectories of energy E are geodesics for a new, degenerate metric, $2(E - V(x))g_x$.

The dual formulation, due to Lagrange [L1788], is to find the extrema of the functional

$$A(\gamma) = \int_0^T \left(\frac{\|\dot{\gamma}(t)\|_{\gamma(t)}^2}{2} - V(\gamma(t)) \right) dt$$
 (1.2)

among all curves going from x to y in a given time T. Let us introduce the lagrangian $L(x,v) = \frac{\|v\|_x^2}{2} - V(x)$; the movement is described by the Euler-Lagrange equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial v}(\gamma,\dot{\gamma})\right) = \frac{\partial L}{\partial x}(\gamma,\dot{\gamma}),\tag{1.3}$$

or more explicitly $D_{\dot{\gamma}}\dot{\gamma} = -\text{grad }V(\gamma)$. This second order equation defines a local flow (ϕ_{EL}^t) on the tangent bundle TX, called the Euler-Lagrange flow.

Hamiltonian point of view. The hamiltonian is the Fenchel–Legendre transform of L with respect to the variable v:

$$H(x,\xi) = \xi \cdot v - L(x,v)$$

with $\xi = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v}$; we are in a nice situation where the Legendre transformation

$$\mathcal{L}$$
eg : $(x, v) \mapsto \left(x, \frac{\partial L}{\partial v}\right)$

defines a diffeomorphism between the tangent bundle TX and the cotangent bundle T^*X . Its inverse is $\mathcal{L}eg^{-1} : (x,\xi) \mapsto \left(x, \frac{\partial H}{\partial \xi}\right)$. In fact, in our case, $\mathcal{L}eg$ is nothing else than the natural identification between TX and T^*X , provided by the riemannian metric. We can define a scalar product g^x on $T^*_x X$ by $g^x(\xi,\xi) = g_x(v,v) = \|v\|_x^2$, with $\xi = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v}$. The vector ξ is called the momentum, and $H(x,\xi) = \frac{g^x(\xi,\xi)}{2} + V(x)$ is the total energy of the system (we will also denote $g^x(\xi,\xi) = \|\xi\|_x^2$, but do not confuse the norms $\|.\|_x$ on $T^*_x X$ and $T_x X$!).

The Euler-Lagrange equation (1.3) is equivalent to Hamilton's system of equations,

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial \xi} \\ \dot{\xi} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x} , \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

which define a local flow (ϕ_H^t) on T^*X , called the hamiltonian flow. This flow is conjugate to (ϕ_{EL}^t) via the diffeomorphism \mathcal{L} eg. It preserves the energy H, in the sense that $H(x(t), \xi(t))$ is constant for any trajectory of the flow $(x(t), \xi(t))$. The hamiltonian flow also preserves the Liouville measure $dx d\xi$.

If a is a function on T^*X (an "observable quantity" in the language of Heisenberg), and if we denote $a_t = a \circ \phi_H^t$, we have

$$\frac{da}{dt} = \{H, a\},\$$

where $\{., .\}$ denotes the Poisson bracket, $\{H, a\} = \sum \partial_{\xi_j} H \partial_{x_j} a - \partial_{\xi_j} a \partial_{x_j} H$.

A more intrinsic way of writing the Hamilton equations (1.4) would be to see the vector field on the right hand side as the symplectic gradient of H, with respect to the *canonical symplectic form* on T^*X . Let us first define the Liouville 1-form on the cotangent bundle, defined by

$$\alpha_{(x,\xi)}(P) = \xi.d\pi(P) \text{ for all } P \in T_{(x,\xi)}(T^*X),$$

where $\pi: T^*X \longrightarrow X$ is the usual projection, and $d\pi$ its tangent map. The cotangent bundle T^*X can be endowed with the symplectic form

$$\omega = -d\alpha. \tag{1.5}$$

In local coordinates, $\alpha = p.dq$ and $\omega = dq \wedge dp$, if p and q denote respectively the "momentum" and "position" functions, $p(x,\xi) = \xi$, $q(x,\xi) = x$. Check that the right hand side of (1.4) is the expression in local coordinates of the symplectic gradient X_H of H, defined by $dH = \omega(X_H, .)$. Check also that the Poisson bracket is given by $\{f, g\} = -\omega(X_f, X_g) = dg(X_f)$, for f, g two functions on T^*X .

One can show that the flow ϕ_H preserves the symplectic form ω . In the language of symplectic geometry, a (local) diffeomorphism of T^*X which preserves ω is called a canonical transformation.

Hamilton–Jacobi equation, generating functions. The Hamilton– Jacobi point of view meets many technical difficulties, but it is the key tool to understand the semiclassical analysis of the Schrödinger equation.

Around 1830, Hamilton introduced a new point of view, by seeing the action as a function of the endpoints x and y [H1830, H1834]. Let γ : $[0,T] \longrightarrow X$ be a solution of the Euler–Lagrange equation, joining x to y in time T. For simplicity, we work in the nice, but usually unrealistic situation, where such a trajectory is unique. We can then consider the Lagrangian action $A(x,y;T) = \int_0^T L(\gamma,\dot{\gamma})dt$ as a function of x, y, T, and check that

$$\frac{\partial A}{\partial x} = -\dot{\gamma}(0); \ \frac{\partial A}{\partial y} = \dot{\gamma}(T), \tag{1.6}$$

and

$$\frac{\partial A}{\partial T} = -E$$

where E is the energy $E = \frac{\|\dot{\gamma}\|^2}{2} + V(\gamma)$, constant along the trajectory γ .

According to Hamilton, being able to solve the equations (1.4) is equivalent to knowing the generating function A, solution of the Hamilton–Jacobi equation

$$\frac{\partial A}{\partial T} + H(x, \partial_x A) = 0, \qquad (1.7)$$

for any initial condition (or even a large enough family of initial conditions). By this procedure, the ordinary differential equations (1.3) or (1.4) have been replaced by a single PDE. Quoting Hamilton, "even if it should be thought that no practical facility is gained, yet an intellectual pleasure may result from the reduction of [...] all researches respecting the forces and motions of body, to the study of one characteristic function".

Let us also consider the Legendre transform of A(x, y; T) with respect to the variable T,

$$S(x, y; E) = ET + A(x, y; T)$$
 (1.8)

with

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial E} = T$$
 and $\frac{\partial S}{\partial T} = -E.$

This is nothing else as the Maupertuis action (1.1) of the trajectory γ joining x to y with energy E:

$$S(x, y; E) = \int \sqrt{2(E - V(\gamma))} \|\dot{\gamma}\| dt = \int_0^T \|\dot{\gamma}\|^2 dt.$$

To check it, note that

$$\int \sqrt{2(E - V(\gamma))} \|d\gamma\| = \int_0^T \|\dot{\gamma}\|^2 dt = ET + \int_0^T \left(\frac{\|\dot{\gamma}\|^2}{2} - V(\gamma)\right) dt.$$

We still have

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial x} = -\dot{\gamma}(0); \ \frac{\partial S}{\partial y} = \dot{\gamma}(T).$$
(1.9)

The function S solves the stationary Hamilton–Jacobi equation,

$$H(x,\partial_x S) = E. \tag{1.10}$$

The solutions of the time-dependent Hamilton-Jacobi equation (1.7) and of the stationary equation (1.10) are related by the Legendre transform (1.8).

The Hamilton–Jacobi equation (1.7) has a simple geometrical interpretation. Consider a subset of the cotangent bundle T^*X , of the form $\mathcal{L}_0 = \{(x, d_x A_0), x \in \Omega_0\}$, with Ω_0 an open subset of X. This is a particular case of a Lagrangian submanifold in T^*X (see Chapter 4). Let \mathcal{L}_0 evolve under the Hamiltonian flow, and consider $\mathcal{L}_t = \phi_H^t \mathcal{L}_0$: because ϕ_H^t preserves the symplectic form ω , \mathcal{L}_t is still a lagrangian manifold. Let us assume that, for $t \in [0, T]$, \mathcal{L}_t still projects diffeomorphically on an open subset of $\Omega_t \subset X$. This means exactly that \mathcal{L}_t is of the form $\mathcal{L}_t = \{(x, d_x A_t), x \in \Omega_t\}$ for some smooth function A_t . It can be shown that the relation $\mathcal{L}_t = \phi_H^t \mathcal{L}_0$ is equivalent to A_t solving the Hamilton–Jacobi equation (1.7), together with the condition that Ω_t is the image of \mathcal{L}_0 under the "exponential" map associated with \mathcal{L}_0 :

$$\exp_{\mathcal{L}_0}^t : \mathcal{L}_0 \longrightarrow X, \tag{1.11}$$

$$\xi \quad \mapsto \quad \pi(\phi_H^t \xi) \tag{1.12}$$

(the notation π denotes the projection $T^*X \longrightarrow X$).

This approach suffers from the notorious problem of caustics. Usually, the exponential map will only be a diffeomorphism if the energy His bounded on \mathcal{L}_0 , and if t is small enough. For large times two kinds of problems arise,

- exp is not injective (two trajectories starting in \mathcal{L}_0 land at the same point in X)

- the tangent map $d \exp$ is not injective (focal points, conjugate points).

Geometrically, this means that after some time \mathcal{L}_t will cease to project diffeomorphically on X. From a PDE point of view, this means that the equation (1.7) does not, in general, have globally defined smooth solutions.

Although the problem of caustics makes the Hamilton–Jacobi equation rather difficult to work with, it is, nevertheless, the key tool to understand Schrödinger's equation and its semiclassical analysis. Semiclassical methods often break down with the appearance of caustics, or little after.

We now review Schrödinger's view of mechanics, but also the work of Born, Heisenberg and Jordan, which lead to the idea of quantization.

1.1.2 Quantum/wave mechanics.

At the beginning of the twentieth century, it became clear that classical mechanics was not applicable to certain problems, like the study of energy radiation in atoms. People started looking for new physical laws, but it was not until 1925 that theories judged as satisfactory were elaborated. These theories involve Planck's constant $h = 2\pi\hbar = 6,626068.10^{-34}m^2$.kg/s (the "action quantum"), and one is supposed to recover classical mechanics when letting h tend to 0 in the equations.

Quantenmechanik. In 1925, Heisenberg, Born and Jordan gave some new laws of mechanics, supposed to replace the old Hamilton equations (1.4). Consider a hamiltonian system with d degrees of freedom (meaning that the manifold X has dimension d – in fact let us take $X = \mathbb{R}^d$). In classical mechanics the time evolution is given by equation (1.4), defining a flow on the phase space T^*X . According to the quantum mechanics of [BHJ25-II], the time evolution of the system is ruled by the five following principles :

(0) The "phase space" is a now Hilbert space \mathcal{H} .

(1) The "observable quantities" are described by linear operators (= infinite matrices). They used a boldface letter **a** to denote the quantum observable corresponding to the classical observable a; if a is a real-valued function on T^*X then the corresponding operator **a** is hermitian.

(2) Main rules : We consider, in particular, an algebra of operators generated by the momentum and position observables, $\mathbf{p} = (\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2, ..., \mathbf{p}_d)$ and $\mathbf{q} = (\mathbf{q}_1, ..., \mathbf{q}_d)$. They must obey the following commutation rules :

$$\left[\mathbf{p}_{k}, \mathbf{q}_{l}\right] = \frac{\hbar}{i} \delta_{kl}, \qquad (1.13)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{p}_k, \mathbf{p}_l \end{bmatrix} = 0, \tag{1.14}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{q}_k, \mathbf{q}_l \end{bmatrix} = 0. \tag{1.15}$$

Assume now that the classical observable f is defined by a power series

$$f(p,q) = \sum \alpha_{sr} p^s q^r.$$

Then we should define the quantum observable \mathbf{f} by

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) = \sum \alpha_{sr} \frac{1}{s+1} \sum_{l=0}^{s} \mathbf{p}^{s-l} \mathbf{q}^{r} \mathbf{p}^{l}.$$

This prehistoric "quantization rule" can be applied, in particular, to define the hamiltonian operator **H**.

(3) A canonical transformation is a transformation that sends the observables (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) to new observables (\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{Q}) satisfying the same commutation relations. We ask that a canonical transformation preserves hermitian operators, and sends an observable of the form $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$ to $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{Q})$. Such a transformation is of the form $\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{SpS}^{-1}$, $\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{SqS}^{-1}$, where **S** is a unitary operator.

(4) The equations of motion are

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\mathbf{p}} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{H}}{\partial \mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{q}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{H}}{\partial \mathbf{p}} , \end{cases}$$
(1.16)

where we define

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial \mathbf{x}_1} = \lim_{\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \big(\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_1 + \varepsilon \mathbb{1}, \mathbf{x}_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_s) - \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_s) \big)$$

for $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_s)$ a power series in the *s* observables $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_s$ (1) is the identity operator).

It can be shown from formula (1.13) that we have the identity

$$[\mathbf{f},\mathbf{g}] = \frac{\hbar}{i} \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial \mathbf{p}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}}{\partial \mathbf{q}} - \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial \mathbf{q}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}}{\partial \mathbf{p}} \right)$$

holding for \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g} power series in the operators \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{q} .

In particular, the equations (1.16) can be reexpressed as

$$\dot{\mathbf{f}} = rac{i}{\hbar} [\mathbf{H}, \mathbf{f}]$$

for any observable \mathbf{f} .

(5) To integrate the equation of motion, we must find a unitary operator **S** such that

$$\mathbf{SHS}^{-1} = \mathbf{W} \tag{1.17}$$

is diagonal. In other words, we look for a canonical transformation which

allows to express the solutions of (1.16) as a superposition of periodic motions¹.

In a basis where \mathbf{H} is diagonal, we find, for any observable \mathbf{f} , that the matrix elements evolve according to

$$\mathbf{f}_{nm}(t) = \mathbf{f}_{nm}(0)e^{2i\pi\nu_{nm}t}; \qquad (1.18)$$

where the radiation sprectrum ν_{nm} ("physical spectrum") is related to the eigenvalues (E_n) of **H** ("mathematical spectrum") by

$$\nu_{nm} = \frac{E_n - E_m}{h}.$$

Wellenmechanik. In 1926, Erwin Schrödinger, independently of the work of Heisenberg, Born and Jordan, proposed a new equation, supposed to describe the state of our system, when the value of the energy E is given (in a force field -grad V, as above) : the "stationary" Schrödinger equation is a second order PDE,

$$-\frac{\hbar^2}{2}\Delta\psi + V\psi = E\psi, \qquad (1.19)$$

where E is the energy. As we shall see, this equation is closely related to the stationary Hamilton–Jacobi equation (1.10). The evolution equation reads

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial t} = \left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2}\Delta + V\right)\phi. \tag{1.20}$$

$$\{f,g\}(\psi) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \psi, i[\mathbf{f},\mathbf{g}]\psi \rangle.$$

The Hamilton equations defined by H read $\frac{d\psi}{dt} = -i\mathbf{H}\psi$. Finally, linear transformations preserving ω are of the form $\psi \mapsto \mathbf{S}\psi$ where \mathbf{S} is unitary.

¹The analogy with the theory of classical hamiltonian systems can be pushed further. In fact, equation (1.16) can is a linear hamiltonian flow, in an infinite dimensional space. Such systems are completely integrable, due to the fact that a unitary transformation diagonalizing **H** always exists. To be more explicit, let $(\mathcal{H}, \langle ., . \rangle)$ be a complex Hilbert space, seen as a real vector space endowed with the symplectic form $\omega(\phi, \psi) = \Im m \langle \phi, \psi \rangle$. If we use an orthonormal basis (e_n) to define coordinates, $\phi = \sum_n (x_n + i\xi_n)e_n$, then (x_n, ξ_n) are Darboux coordinates, meaning that $\omega = \sum_n dx_n \wedge d\xi_n$.

Let **H** be a self-adjoint operator; it can be used to define a quadratic hamiltonian $H(\psi) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \psi, \mathbf{H}\psi \rangle$. If we consider quadratic observables, $f(\psi) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \psi, \mathbf{f}\psi \rangle$, then the Poisson bracket defined by ω correspond to the usual commutator bracket,

Thus, finding a unitary **S** such that $\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{HS}$ is diagonal amounts to finding a linear canonical transformation $\psi \mapsto \mathbf{S}\psi$ which transforms the hamiltonian H into $H(\mathbf{S}\psi) = \frac{1}{2}\sum (2\pi\nu_n)^2 (x_n^2 + \xi_n^2)$. This means that we can integrate the equation of motion by decomposing it into a superposition of infinitely many independent harmonic oscillators.

These two forms of the equation are related by a time/energy Fourier transform $\phi(t) = \int e^{-iEt/\hbar} \psi_E dE$, which recalls the relation (1.8).

According to Schrödinger's theory, the energy spectrum can be computed by finding the values of E for which equation (1.19) admits solutions which are "single-valued, finite, and continuous throughout configuration space".

Schrödinger, motivated by the works of De Broglie, gives an interpretation of ψ as a "wave function". "The true mechanical process is realised or represented in a fitting way by the wave processes in *q*-space, and not by the motion of image points in this space. The study of the motion of image points, which is the object of classical mechanics, is only an approximate treatment, and has, as such, just as much justification as geometrical or "ray" optics has, compared with the true optical process". This approximation is only justified when the dimensions of the system are very large compared to the wave length : "we inevitably became involved in irremovable contradictions if we tried, as was very natural, to maintain also the idea of paths of systems in these processes; just as we find the tracing of the course of a light ray to be meaningless, in the neighbourhood of a diffraction phenomenon".

It is particularly interesting for us to note that Schrödinger derived the form of his equation from the desired behaviour of the solutions when $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$:

Assume that our mechanical phenomenon is described by a wave function ψ , and assume that this wave has the particular form : $\psi(x,0) = \exp\left(i\frac{A(x,0)}{\hbar} + C\right)$ at t = 0. Assume also that for t > 0 the wave ψ looks like

$$\psi(x,t) \sim \exp\left(i\frac{A(x,t)}{\hbar} + C\right) + \text{ small error.}$$
 (1.21)

To find the form of the equation satisfied by ψ , Schrödinger postulates that the phase A must approximately satisfy the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (1.7), when the wave length is very small (semiclassical approximation). In other words, we must (almost) see the wave move according to the classical motion. Thus, the point is to find an equation, looking like a wave equation, and such that (1.21) is an approximate solution if $\frac{\partial A}{\partial t} + H(x, d_x A) = 0$ (1.7) and $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$.

To find such an equation, Schrödinger actually works with the stationary formulation : this means that A(x,t) is of the form A(x,t) = -Et + S(x)where S solves $H(x, d_x S) = E$ (1.10). If S satisfies (1.10), then the local speed of propagation of ψ is

$$u(x) = \frac{-\frac{\partial A}{\partial t}}{|\nabla A|} = \frac{E}{\sqrt{2(E - V(x))}}$$

and the wave length is $\lambda(x) = \frac{h}{\sqrt{2(E-V(x))}}$. This encourages Schrödinger to propose the equation

$$\frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial t^2} = u^2 \triangle \psi$$

From the expression of u, and the formula (1.21) supposed to give an approximate solution when $\lambda \longrightarrow 0$, we find $-\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \Delta \psi + V \psi = E \psi$.

The description of the semiclassical limit, yielding classical mechanics as a limiting case of wave mechanics, is the same as in optics; it is a phenomenon of constructive or destructive interferences (described in mathematics by the stationary phase method). Let us try to put Schrödinger's arguments into mathematical words : they already contain the seeds of semiclassical analysis. Every ψ can be written as

$$\psi(x) \sim \int a(x,\theta) \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}A(x;\theta)\right) d\theta,$$
 (1.22)

where θ varies in an open set of \mathbb{R}^d , and $\exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}A(x;\theta)\right)$ is a family parametrized by θ (for instance, the plane wave in \mathbb{R}^d , $\exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}\langle x, \theta \rangle\right)$), and a is a distribution. By linearity of the Schrödinger equation, and by the approximate form of the solutions (1.21), after time t the wave looks like

$$\psi(t,x) \sim \int a(x,\theta) \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}A(t,x;\theta)\right) d\theta,$$
(1.23)

where $A(t, x; \theta)$ is the solution of (1.7) with initial condition $A(x; \theta)$. If the oscillations are very rapid (λ small) we expect all these waves to interfer destructively, except at those points x where the phase has a stationary point,

$$\partial_{\theta} A(t, x, \theta_0) = 0$$

(for some θ_0). At such a point, we see essentially the wave $\exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}A(t,x;\theta_0)\right)$, with the frequency vector $\xi = \partial_x A(t,x,\theta_0)$. Thus, the wave front at time t is the subset of the cotangent space

$$\mathcal{L}(t) = \{(x,\xi), \text{ there exists } \theta_0, \partial_\theta A(t,x,\theta_0) = 0, \ \xi = \partial_x A(t,x,\theta_0)\}.$$
(1.24)

Assuming each $A(.,.,\theta)$ satisfies the Hamilton–Jacobi equation, check that $\mathcal{L}(t)$ is precisely the image of $\mathcal{L}(0)$ under the hamiltonian flow (1.4) at time t. In other words, the wave front is propagated according to the classical hamiltonian flow.

"The point of phase agreement for certain infinitesimal manifolds of wave systems, containing n parameters, moves according to the same laws as the image point of the mechanical system" [Schr26-II].

Recall that this is an approximation, valid when the wave length λ is very small; for mathematicians, this is the same as letting \hbar tend to 0.

Schrödinger writes : "I consider it a very difficult task to give an exact proof that the superposition of these wave systems really produces a noticeable disturbance in only a relatively small region surrounding the point of phase agreement, and that everywhere else they practically destroy one another through interference" [Schr26-II]. As we shall see in Section 1.4.2, this problem can in fact be handled, imposing strong smoothness conditions on the distribution a.

1.2 Weyl quantization.

In [Schr26-III], Schrödinger realizes, in the case of $X = \mathbb{R}^d$, that his "wave mechanics" is equivalent to the "quantum mechanics" introduced by Born, Heisenberg and Jordan. A quantization procedure is a way to associate, to every function on the classical phase space $T^*X = \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$, an operator on the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, so that the commutation rules (1.13) are satisfied. Schrödinger suggests to associate the operator $\mathbf{q}_k =$ (multiplication by q_k) to the coordinate function q_k , and the operator $\mathbf{p}_k = \frac{\hbar}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_k}$ to the function p_k .

One must then decide of a convention to define the operator $\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{p})$ associated to an arbitrary function a(q, p) of (q, p). For instance, the function p_kq_k could be represented by the operator $\mathbf{p}_k\mathbf{q}_k$ or by $\mathbf{q}_k\mathbf{p}_k$. Schrödinger leaves this issue open, but recommends to quantize a hamiltonian of the form

$$H(q,p) = \frac{\|p\|^2}{2} + V(q),$$

where $\|.\|$ is a riemannian metric, by the operator $\mathbf{H} = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \triangle + V$, where \triangle is the laplacian associated to the metric. In this representation, Heisenberg's equation (1.17), requiring to diagonalize the operator \mathbf{H} , can be written $-\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \triangle \psi + V \psi = E \psi$, which is exactly Schrödinger's equation (1.19). Thus, the two theories will give the same values of the energy spectrum. Schrödinger suggests, however, that two theories can be mathematically equivalent without being physically equivalent.

Weyl quantization. Hermann Weyl [Weyl27] proposed to quantize the observable $U_{p_0,q_0}(q,p) = e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(p_0,q-q_0,p)}$ $(q_0,p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d)$ by the operator $\mathbf{U}_{p_0,q_0}(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{p}) = e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(p_0,\mathbf{q}-q_0,\mathbf{p})}$ (where (\mathbf{q},\mathbf{p}) are defined by Schrödinger's prescriptions). Then, the Fourier transform allows to quantize any observable : if a is decomposed into

$$a(q,p) = \int e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(p_0,q-q_0,p)} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(q_0,p_0) \frac{dq_0 dp_0}{(2\pi\hbar)^d}$$

Weyl's quantization defines

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{p}) = \int e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(p_0,\mathbf{q}-q_0,\mathbf{p})} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(q_0,p_0) \frac{dq_0 \, dp_0}{(2\pi\hbar)^d} =: \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^W(a),$$

also given by the formula

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W}(a)f(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{d}} \int a\left(\frac{x+y}{2},\xi\right) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi\cdot(x-y)}f(y)dy\,d\xi.$$

The Schrödinger representation. The family of operators $\mathbf{U}_{p,q}$ obeys the following composition rule,

$$\mathbf{U}_{p,q} \cdot \mathbf{U}_{p',q'} = \mathbf{U}_{p+p',q+q'} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \frac{1}{2} (pq'-q'p)}.$$
 (1.25)

Consider the Heisenberg group \mathbf{H}_d with d degrees of freedom, defined as \mathbb{R}^{2d+1} endowed with the composition rule

$$(p,q,t).(p',q',t') = \left(p + p', q + q', t + t' + \frac{1}{2}(pq' - qp')\right), \ (p,p',q,q' \in \mathbb{R}^d, t,t' \in \mathbb{R}).$$

Its Lie algebra is generated by $P_1, \ldots, P_d, Q_1, \ldots, Q_d, T$ with the relations

$$[P_j, P_k] = [Q_j, Q_k] = [P_j, T] = [Q_j, T] = 0; \ [P_j, Q_k] = \delta_{jk}T$$

The identity (1.25) can be reinterpreted by saying that

$$\rho_h(p,q,t) = e^{\frac{it}{\hbar}} \mathbf{U}_{p,q}$$

defines a unitary representation from \mathbf{H}_d into $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, called the Schrödinger representation of parameter h. The associated infinitesimal representation is $P_k \mapsto \frac{\partial}{\partial q_k} = \frac{i}{\hbar} \mathbf{p}_k, \ Q_k \mapsto \frac{i}{\hbar} \mathbf{q}_k, \ T \mapsto \frac{i}{\hbar} I.$

Theorem 1.1. (Stone-von Neumann 1930 [St30, vN31], see [Foll]) Every irreducible unitary representation of \mathbf{H}_d is equivalent to exactly one of the following representations :

(a) ρ_h $(h \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\})$ acting on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$; (b) $\sigma_{ab}(p,q,t) = e^{2\pi i (ap+bq)}$, $(a,b \in \mathbb{R}^d)$ acting on \mathbb{C} .

1.3 Born's probabilitic interpretation of the Schrödinger equation.

Born discovered that the square modulus $|\psi|^2$ of the wave functions (satisfying the Schrödinger equation) could be used to predict the probability of where the "particle" would be found. More precisely, if ψ is normalized so that $\int |\psi(t,x)|^2 dx = 1$, then $|\psi(t,x)|^2$ gives the probability density of finding, in an experiment, the particle at x (at time t). This was the beginning of a tense philosophical (or physical) debate on the correct interpretation of the wave/particle duality. "Let me say at the outset, that in this discourse, I am opposing not a few special statements of quantum physics held today (1950s), I am opposing as it were the whole of it, I am opposing its basic views that have been shaped 25 years ago, when Max Born put forward his probability interpretation, which was accepted by almost everybody. (E. Schrödinger, The Interpretation of Quantum Physics. Ox Bow Press, Woodbridge, CN, 1995).

"I don't like it, and I'm sorry I ever had anything to do with it" (Erwin Schrödinger talking about quantum physics).

1.4 The semiclassical limit.

The main subject of these notes is to try to describe the localization of the probability density $|\psi(t,x)|^2 dx$, for a Schrödinger eigenfunction, in the semiclassical limit $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$. The quantum/classical correspondence tells us, intuitively, that the eigenfunctions, which correspond to stationary solutions of the Schrödinger equation, should look like invariant probability measures of the classical hamiltonian flow. In this section we give a quick survey of the mathematical tools used to study this question.

It is not really satisfactory, and usually practically impossible, to study the density $|\psi(t, x)|^2 dx$ itself. This is because, when taking the modulus of ψ , we lose some precious information on the frequency vector of ψ (related to its phase, or complex argument). We need to study simultaneously the Fourier transform of ψ . Of course, mathematically speaking, one cannot study at the same time the local property of a function and of its Fourier transform around some point $(x, \xi) \in T^*X$. In physics, this is expressed by Heisenberg's uncertainty principle, saying that one cannot measure the localization in position without perturbing a lot the momentum (and vice-versa). Microlocal analysis² is a collection of mathematical techniques allowing to study the joint localization of a function and its Fourier transform; because of the uncertainty principle, this can only be meaningful asymptotically, when $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$.

1.4.1 Fourier transform.

The Fourier transform

$$\mathcal{F}_{\hbar}(u)(\xi) = \hat{u}_{\hbar}(\xi) = (2\pi\hbar)^{-d/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi \cdot x} u(x) \mathrm{d}x$$

allows to analyze a signal u in terms of its frequencies, at the scale \hbar . For $u \in C_o^{\infty}$, we have the decomposition

$$u(x) = (2\pi\hbar)^{-d/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi \cdot x} \hat{u}_{\hbar}(\xi) \mathrm{d}\xi \; .$$

 $^{^2 \}mathrm{More}$ precisely, we will present here its $\hbar\text{-dependent}$ version, also called semiclassical analysis.

1.4.2 The stationary phase method.

It describes the asymptotic behaviour, as $\hbar \to 0$, of an integral of the form :

$$I(\hbar) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^D} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S(x)} a(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

where $a \in C_o^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^D)$ and $S \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^D, \mathbb{R})$.

The interferences between the different terms $e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S(x)}$ are destructive, except at the stationary points of the phase S. The precise statement is :

- If S has no critical/stationary point in the support of a, then $I(\hbar) = O(\hbar^{\infty})$.
- If S has a unique critical point x_0 , supposed to be non-degenerate, in the support of a, then there is an asymptotic development in powers of \hbar , up to any order,

$$I(\hbar) \sim (2\pi\hbar)^{D/2} \frac{e^{i\sigma\pi/4}}{|\det S''(x_0)|^{\frac{1}{2}}} e^{iS(x_0)/\hbar} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \hbar^j a_j\right)$$
(1.26)

where $S''(x_0)$ is the hessian matrix of S at x_0 , $\sigma = n_+ - n_-$ is the index of $S''(x_0)$ (the difference between the number of positive and negative eigenvalues), and $a_0 = a(x_0)$. More generally, a_j can be expressed in terms of the derivatives of a up to order 2j, at the point x_0 .

For technical applications, one usually needs to work with functions a which are not necessarily compactly supported, but have a well behaved behaviour at infinity, and can be allowed to depend on \hbar . The choice of a class of "symbols" is a technical issue, which depends on the aims, but also on the tastes of the authors. For the sake of completeness we give an example of a convenient class of symbols. However, it is not required to understand all technical issues to read the next sections.

Symbol spaces. Let D, d > 0 be two integers, and let U be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^{D} . Let us define symbols of order m (independent of \hbar):

$$\begin{split} \Sigma^m(U\times \mathbb{R}^d) &:= \big\{ a \in C^\infty(U\times \mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}) / \\ & \text{for every compact } K \subset U, \text{ there exists } C, \\ & |D_z^\alpha D_\xi^\beta a(z,\xi))| \leq C(1+|\xi|)^{m-|\beta|} \text{ for all } (z,\xi) \in K\times \mathbb{R}^d \big\}. \end{split}$$

For instance, this class contains functions which are homogeneous in a neighbourhood of infinity. We denote $\Sigma^{-\infty} = \bigcap_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \Sigma^m$ — this class contains the smooth compactly supported functions $C_o^{\infty}(U \times \mathbb{R}^d)$.

We also define *semiclassical symbols of order* m and degree l — thus called because they depend on a parameter \hbar :

$$\Sigma^{m,l} = \{a_{\hbar}(z,\xi) = \hbar^l \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \hbar^j a_j(z,\xi), \ a_j \in \Sigma^{m-j}\}$$
(1.27)

This means that $a_{\hbar}(x,\xi)$ as an asymptotic development in powers of \hbar ; in the sense that

$$a - \hbar^l \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \hbar^j a_j \in \hbar^{l+N} \Sigma^{m-N}$$

for all N, uniformly in \hbar . In this context, we denote $\Sigma^{-\infty,+\infty} = \bigcap_{m \ge 0} \Sigma^{-m,m}$.

In these definitions, $U \times \mathbb{R}^d$ can be replaced by a fiber bundle of rank d on a D-dimensional manifold.

Fresnel integrals, generalized stationary phase method. We can now describe the asymptotic behaviour, as $h \to 0$, of the integral :

$$I_{\hbar}^{S}(a) = \int_{U \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S(z,\xi)} a(z,\xi) \, dz d\xi$$

where S is smooth, homogeneous of degree n > 0 near infinity with respect to ξ , and without critical points outside a compact subset of $U \times \mathbb{R}^d$. The integral $I_{\hbar}^S(a)$ is defined for $a \in \Sigma_o^{m,l}$, by continuation of the case $a \in C_o^{\infty}$. Here, the index $*_o$ in $\Sigma_o^{m,l}$ means that a is compactly supported with respect to z, with support independent on \hbar .

The method of stationary phase can still be applied in this setting.

1.4.3 Pseudodifferential operators.

A quantization procedure is a way to associate an operator to a classical observable a(p,q). Recall Schrödinger's prescriptions, $\mathbf{q}_k = (\text{multiplication by } q_k)$, and $\mathbf{p}_k = \frac{\hbar}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_k}$, compatible with Heisenberg's commutation relations (1.13). To extend this definition to an arbitrary function of (p,q), we meet an obvious problem : to quantize the function $p_k q_k^2$, for instance, we could propose the operators $\mathbf{p}_k \mathbf{q}_k^2$, $\mathbf{q}_k^2 \mathbf{p}_k$, or $\mathbf{q}_k \mathbf{p}_k \mathbf{q}_k$. There are many quantization procedures. We already met the Weyl quantization, which combines several remarkable features, like the fact that it associates a symmetric operator to a real symbol. Later on, we shall also define the anti-Wick positive quantization, which associates a nonnegative operator to a nonnegative symbol.

The theory of pseudodifferential operators with small parameter allows to describe the passage from the quantum theory to the classical theory when $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$. This is also called \hbar -dependent microlocal analysis, microlocal analysis with small parameter, or semiclassical analysis. Pseudodifferential operators were first developed by Hörmander [Ho, Ho79] for the study of the regularizing properties of partial differential equations (without any small parameter). Pseudodifferential operators with small parameter, manipulated by Maslov [Masl65] in the framework of semiclassical analysis, developed by Voros in mathematical physics [Vor, Vor78], were perfectioned by Sjöstrand, Robert, Helffer, [DimSjo, Rob]... I advise to read [Helffer1] for a history of the first years of this theory in the seventies and an exhaustive bibliography; see also [Helffer2] for a survey of applications.

Symbol spaces depend on authors, and can be extremely sophisticated. Hörmander's definition has no \hbar and involves symbols which are homogeneous near infinity, allowing to describe the regularizing properties of operators. The semiclassical symbol classes of [DimSjo] are rather aimed at describing the behaviour of operators when $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$, say in L^2 norm. The symbols we use here combine both approaches : taking $\hbar = 1$ we would find (one of) Hörmander's symbol spaces.

Pseudodifferential operators. Let Ω be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d , and let $a = a_{\hbar}(x, y; \xi) \in \Sigma_o^{m,l}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. Here the index $_o$ means that for every compact $K \subset \Omega$, there exists a compact K' such that $a(x, y, \xi) = 0$ for $x \in K, y \notin K', \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let u be a smooth function. We define :

$$OP_{\hbar}(a)u(x) = (2\pi\hbar)^{-d} \int e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi \cdot (x-y)} a(x,y,\xi)u(y) \,\mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\xi,$$

the integral being well defined as a Fresnel integral. We denote $\Psi DO^{m,l}(\Omega)$ these operators, called (proper) pseudodifferential operators of *degree l* and *order m*, on Ω . The intersection $\Psi DO^{-\infty,\infty}$ of all the $\Psi DO^{m,l}(\Omega)$ are the negligible operators : they are the operators with a smooth kernel K_{\hbar} , and such that all derivatives of K_{\hbar} are $O(\hbar^{\infty})$ uniformly on compact sets.³

Note that several symbols $a(x, y, \xi)$ can give the same operator $OP_{\hbar}(a)$. As a simple example, we note that $a(x, y, \xi) = V(x)$ and $a(x, y, \xi) = V(y)$ both give the operator of multiplication by V. It is often convenient to choose special representatives :

Weyl quantization. Left and right quantizations.

Here $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$.

We already met the Weyl quantization⁴, $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W}(a) = \operatorname{OP}_{\hbar}\left(a(\frac{x+y}{2},\xi)\right)$. If $a \in \Sigma_{o}^{m,l}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d})$ is compactly supported with respect to the first variable, then $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W}(a) \in \operatorname{\Psi}\operatorname{DO}^{m,l}$.

³Usually, in this theory, all the assertions about operators hold modulo negligible operators. Likewise, the assertions about functions hold modulo negligible functions. These are the smooth functions $u_{\hbar}(x)$ such that all derivatives are $O(\hbar^{\infty})$ uniformly on compact sets of X.

⁴I try to stick to the notation OP for symbols $a \in \Sigma(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, and Op for symbols $a \in \Sigma(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$.

The inverse of Weyl quantization is explicit, given by the Wigner transform : if K(x, y) is the kernel of the operator A, we let :

$$W_A(x,\xi) = (2\pi\hbar)^{-d/2} \int e^{\frac{iv\xi}{\hbar}} K\left(x + \frac{v}{2}, x - \frac{v}{2}\right) dv \; .$$

Then $A = \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W}(W_{A})$. In particular, the Weyl symbol of an operator is unique.

Two other common quantizations are, the *left quantization*, defined by $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{L}(a) = \operatorname{OP}_{\hbar}(a(x,\xi))$ where $a \in \Sigma_{o}^{m,l}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d})$ and the *right quantization*, $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{R}(a) = \operatorname{OP}_{\hbar}(a(y,\xi))$. The left and right symbols are both uniquely determined by the operator (there are explicit inversion formulas, too).

Example 1.2. To quantize the observable $a(p,q) = pq^2$, the left quantization chooses $\mathbf{q}^2\mathbf{p}$, the right quantization chooses \mathbf{pq}^2 , and the Weyl quantization forms the combination $\frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{pq}^2 + 2\mathbf{qpq} + \mathbf{q}^2\mathbf{p}) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{pq}^2 + \mathbf{q}^2\mathbf{p})$.

Exercise 1.3. On $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$, consider a lagrangian L(x, v) defined by a riemannian metric,

$$L(x,v) = \frac{1}{2}g_x(v,v) = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j=1}^d g_{ij}(x)v_iv_j.$$

Check that the corresponding hamiltonian is

$$H(x,\xi) = \frac{1}{2}g^{x}(\xi,\xi) = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j=1}^{d}g^{ij}(x)\xi_{i}\xi_{j},$$

where $(g^{ij}(x))$ is the inverse of the matrix $(g_{ij}(x))$.

Write the explicit expression of the laplacian \triangle associated to the metric g (you may restrict yourself to d = 1 !).

Choose a quantization procedure $Op_{\hbar} = Op_{\hbar}^W, Op_{\hbar}^L$ or Op_{\hbar}^R . Show that

$$Op_{\hbar}(H) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \bigtriangleup + \hbar \left[\sum_{j=1}^d b_j(x) \frac{\hbar}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + c(x) \right]$$

for certain functions b_j, c , the expression of which depends on your choice of Op_{\hbar} .

Show that there is a function d such that

$$-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \Delta = \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}\left(H(x,\xi) + \hbar\left(\sum_j b_j(x)\xi_j + c(x)\right) + \hbar^2 d(x)\right). \quad (1.28)$$

Compare with (1.27) to find the order and the degree of $-\hbar^2 \triangle$ (of course, differential operators are pseudodifferential operators !).

The expression of b_j, c, d , does depend on the choice of Op_{\hbar} . The first term $H(x,\xi)$ does not, it is called the principal symbol of $-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \Delta$.

Principal symbol. Let $a_{\hbar} \in \Sigma_o^{m,0}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. Applying the operator $A_{\hbar} = OP_{\hbar}(a_{\hbar}) \in \Psi DO^{m,0}$ to a function of the form $u(x)e^{iS(x)/\hbar}$, where u and S are smooth⁵, the method of stationary phase gives the following asymptotics :

$$A_{\hbar}\left(u(x)e^{iS(x)/\hbar}\right) = a_0\left(x, x, S'(x)\right) u(x)e^{iS(x)/\hbar} + O(\hbar).$$

This shows that the function $a_0(x, x, \xi)$ on $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d = T^* \mathbb{R}^d$ does not depend on the choice of the symbol $a_{\hbar}(x, y, \xi)$, but only on the operator A_{\hbar} . It is called the principal symbol of A_{\hbar} , denoted $\sigma^0(A_{\hbar})$. If $\sigma^0(A_{\hbar}) = 0$, then A_{\hbar} actually belongs to $\Psi DO^{m-1,1}$ (and conversely).

Remark 1.4. For $a \in \Sigma_o^{m,0}$, we note that $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^W(a)$, $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^L(a)$, $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^R(a)$ all have the same principal symbol $a_0(x,\xi)$. In other words,

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W}(a) - \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{R/L}(a) \in \Psi \mathrm{DO}^{m-1,+1}$$

Continuity. Trace class and Hilbert-Schmidt operators. An operator in $\Psi DO^{0,0}(\Omega)$ is bounded from $L^2(\Omega)$ to $L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$, uniformly with respect to \hbar .

An operator in $\Psi DO^{m,0}(\Omega)$, where Ω is, as before, an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d , is

- trace class if m < -d
- Hilbert-Schmidt if m < -d/2

In this case, the trace of OP(a) is given by the convergent integral,

$$\operatorname{Tr} \operatorname{OP}(a) = (2\pi\hbar)^{-d} \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} a(x, x, \xi) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}\xi \ . \tag{1.29}$$

(This is the integral of the kernel of OP(a) on the diagonal.)

Product. If $A_{\hbar} \in \Psi DO^{m_1,0}$ and $B_{\hbar} \in \Psi DO^{m_2,0}$, then the product $A_{\hbar}B_{\hbar}$ belongs to $\Psi DO^{m_1+m_2-1,1}_{o}$, and the principal symbols are multiplied : $\sigma^0(A_{\hbar}B_{\hbar}) = \sigma^0(A_{\hbar})\sigma^0(B_{\hbar})$.

An equivalent statement : if $a \in \Sigma_o^{m_1,0}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $b \in \Sigma_o^{m_2,0}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, then $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a) \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(b) \in \operatorname{\Psi DO}^{m_1+m_2,0}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, and

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(ab) - \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a) \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(b) \in \Psi \operatorname{DO}^{m_1 + m_2 - 1, 1}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
(1.30)

 $^{^5 \}mathrm{Such}$ a function is called a WKB state, see Chapter 4

(thanks to Remark 1.4, this statement does not depend on the choice of Op^W , Op^L or Op^R).

Brackets. If $A_{\hbar} \in \Psi DO^{m_1,0}$ and $B_{\hbar} \in \Psi DO^{m_2,0}$, then the bracket $[A_{\hbar}, B_{\hbar}]$ belongs to $\Psi DO^{m_1+m_2-1,1}$, and

$$\sigma^0\left(\hbar^{-1}[A_{\hbar}, B_{\hbar}]\right) = \frac{1}{i} \left\{ \sigma^0(A_{\hbar}), \sigma^0(B_{\hbar}) \right\};$$

where $\{., .\}$ is the Poisson bracket.

Equivalently : if $a \in \Sigma_o^{m_1,0}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $b \in \Sigma_o^{m_2,0}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, we have

$$\left[\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a), \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(b)\right] - \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}\left(\frac{\hbar}{i}\{a, b\}\right) \in \Psi \mathrm{DO}^{m_1 + m_2 - 2, 2} \tag{1.31}$$

and again this statement does not depend on the choice of Op^W , Op^L or Op^R .

Remark 1.5. There is also an integrated version of this result, called the Egorov Theorem. We will use it in the following form : assume the pseudod-ifferential operator A_{\hbar} is self-adjoint. Define the Schrödinger flow $(U_{\hbar}^t) = (\exp - \frac{it}{\hbar}A_{\hbar})$.

Let $a \in C_c^{\infty}(T^*\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, for any given t in \mathbb{R} ,

$$\|U_{\hbar}^{-t}\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a)U_{\hbar}^{t} - \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a \circ \phi_{\sigma^{0}(A_{\hbar})}^{t})\|_{L^{2}} = \mathcal{O}(\hbar), \qquad \hbar \to 0.$$
(1.32)

Here $\phi_{\sigma^0(A_{\hbar})}^t$ is the Hamiltonian flow defined by the Hamiltonian $\sigma^0(A_{\hbar})$.

Pseudodifferential operators on a compact manifold. Let X be a compact C^{∞} manifold of dimension d. Let (Ω_i, φ_i) be a finite atlas of X $(X = \bigcup \Omega_i, \varphi_i : \Omega_i \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d)$. Use the φ_i to define local coordinates $\Phi_i : T^*\Omega_i \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$ on T^*X as follows :

$$\Phi_i(x,p) = (\varphi_i(x), (d\varphi_i(x))^{-1}p).$$

Check that these are symplectic coordinates on T^*X . Introduce a finite partition of unity $\chi_i \in C_o^{\infty}(\Omega_i)$ such that $\sum \chi_j^2 = 1$. For $a \in \Sigma_o^{m,l}(T^*X)$, we let :

$$Op_{\hbar}(a)u = \sum_{i} \chi_{i} \left[OP_{\hbar} \left(a \circ \Phi_{i} \right) \left(\chi_{i}u \circ \varphi_{i}^{-1} \right) \right] \circ \varphi_{i} .$$
 (1.33)

The map $a \mapsto \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a)$ thus defined depends on the partition of unity and of the local coordinates; but its range does not, modulo negligible operators. The algebra $\operatorname{\Psi DO}^{m,l}(X)$ of pseudodifferential operators on X (modulo negligible operators) is thus well defined.

All the properties stated above can be extended to this case.

1.5 Semiclassical measures, microlocal lifts.

A quantization procedure Op is said to be *nonnegative* if Op(a) is a nonnegative operator as soon as a is a nonnegative function. The usual quantization procedures do not have this property.

Positive quantization on \mathbb{R}^d .

Example 1.6. (Coherent states) The coherent state (of size \hbar) centered at (x_0, ξ_0) is defined as the normalized gaussian state

$$e_{x_0,\xi_0}(x) = \frac{1}{(\pi\hbar)^{d/4}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi_0.x} \exp\left(-\frac{\|x-x_0\|^2}{2\hbar}\right)$$

For $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$, we shall denote $\Pi_{(x,\xi)}$ the orthogonal projector on $\mathbb{C}e_{(x,\xi)}$.

Theorem 1.7. Let $a \in C_o^{\infty}(T^*\mathbb{R}^d)$. The operator defined by

$$Op^+(a) = (2\pi\hbar)^{-d} \int a(x,\xi) \Pi_{x,\xi} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}\xi$$

belongs to the class $\Psi DO^{-\infty,0}$, it is self-adjoint (resp. nonnegative) if a is real valued (resp. nonnegative). Its principal symbol is $a(x,\xi)$.

We have $Op^+(1) = I$, which allows to extend the definition of Op^+ to the case when a is constant in a neighbourhood of infinity in T^*X .

This quantization is called the anti–Wick quantization.

To define a positive quantization procedure on a compact manifold X, we choose an atlas of X and a subordinate partition of unity, $\sum \chi_j^2 = 1$. For $a \in C_o^{\infty}(T^*X)$, we let $\operatorname{Op}_X^+(a) = \sum_j \chi_j \operatorname{Op}_{\mathbb{R}^d}^+(a)\chi_j$ — where $\operatorname{Op}_{\mathbb{R}^d}^+(a)$ is defined using local coordinates in the support of χ_j (see (1.33)). We can extend this definition to the case when a is constant in a neighbourhood of infinity in T^*X , by letting $\operatorname{Op}_X^+(1) = I$.

Semiclassical measures. Let X be a compact riemannian manifold; we denote Vol the riemannian volume on X. To a family (u_{\hbar}) of normalized elements of $L^2(X, \text{Vol})$, we can associate the family of distributions μ_{\hbar} by the formula $\mu_{\hbar}(a) = \langle u_{\hbar}, \text{Op}_{\hbar}^+(a)u_{\hbar} \rangle_{L^2(X,\text{Vol})}$. They are in fact probability measures on T^*X . To be able to take weak limits when $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$, we see them as probability measures on the compactification $\overline{T^*X}$ of T^*X obtained by adding a sphere bundle a infinity. By convention, we will call the measures μ_{\hbar} the Husimi measures, associated to the family (u_{\hbar}) . The term Wigner transform will be exclusively used in the case $X = \mathbb{R}^d$, for the distributions $a \mapsto \langle u_{\hbar}, \text{Op}_{\hbar}^W(a)u_{\hbar} \rangle$ defined thanks to the Weyl quantization. These distributions are also called *microlocal lifts* of the probability measures $|u_{\hbar}(x)|^2 d\text{Vol}(x)$. This means that they project down to X to $|u_{\hbar}(x)|^2 d\text{Vol}(x) + O(\hbar)$, but also contain information about the local frequency vector (Fourier transform) of u_{\hbar} .

Due to the uncertainty principle, these objects are not really meaningful for fixed $\hbar > 0$. In fact, their definition depends on a certain number of arbitrary choices, coming into play in the definition of Op : local coordinates, partition of unity, choice of the quantization procedure... However, the semiclassical limits of these distributions do not depend on all these arbitrary conventions. All of them give an operator Op(a) with principal symbol $a(x,\xi)$. In particular, if $a \in \Sigma_o^{0,0}(T^*X)$, two definitions of Op(a) only differ of $O(\hbar)$ in L^2 operator norm.

We shall call semiclassical measure associated to the family (u_{\hbar}) any limit point of the sequence (μ_{\hbar}) in the weak topology.

Example 1.8. (Coherent states)

$$u_{\hbar}(x) = e_{x_0,\xi_0}(x) = \frac{1}{(\pi\hbar)^{d/4}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi_0 \cdot x} \exp\left(-\frac{\|x - x_0\|^2}{2\hbar}\right)$$

Then there is a unique semiclassical measure, the Dirac mass at (x_0, ξ_0) .

Example 1.9. (Lagrangian states/WKB states) Let $u_{\hbar}(x) = b(x)e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S(x)}$ where b and S are of class C^{∞} . In Chapter 4, we will call such functions lagrangian states associated to the lagrangian manifold $\mathcal{L} = \{(x, dS(x))\}$.

There is a unique semiclassical measure associated to (u_{\hbar}) , it is carried by the lagrangian \mathcal{L} and projects to X as the measure $|b(x)|^2 d\text{Vol}(x)$.

Exercise 1.10. You have noted that we often omit to indicate the dependence on \hbar in the definition of Op (which should be denoted Op_{\hbar}). The choice of scaling is, nevertheless, very important, and the properties observed vary a lot according to the scaling.

In the previous example, show that the measures defined by

$$\mu_{\hbar,\alpha}(a) = \langle u_{\hbar}, \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar^{\alpha}}^+(a) u_{\hbar} \rangle$$

concentrate to the 0-section in T^*X if $\alpha > 1$, to the sphere bundle at infinity $\overline{T^*X} \setminus T^*X$ if $\alpha < 1$.

When the u_{\hbar} are the eigenfunctions of a hamiltonian operator as in (1.19), one can apply the following theorem :

Theorem 1.11. Let P be a self-adjoint pseudodifferential operator, denote p_0 its principal symbol. Let (u_{\hbar}) be a family of tamed⁶ smooth functions, such that $Pu_{\hbar} = O(\hbar^{\infty})$ and $||u_{\hbar}||_{L^2} = 1$. Let μ_{\hbar} be the Husimi measures associated to (u_{\hbar}) . Then, every weak limit μ_0 of the measures μ_{\hbar} on $\overline{T^*X}$

⁶meaning that, for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$, for any compact K, there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the C^N norm of u_{\hbar} on K is $O(\hbar^{-k})$

- 1. is a probability measure on $\overline{T^*X}$.
- 2. projects on X to a weak limit of the measures $|u_{\hbar}(x)|^2 d\text{Vol}(x)$.
- 3. is invariant under the hamiltonian flow of p_0 .
- 4. its restriction to T^*X is carried by the energy level $\{p_0 = 0\}$.
- 5. If p_0 is elliptic at infinity, then μ_0 is carried by T^*X .

The first two items have already been proven.

Exercise 1.12. Prove the third item by using the relation $\sigma^0(\hbar^{-1}[P, \operatorname{Op}(a)]) = -i\{p_0, a\}$ to show that $\int \{p_0, a\} d\mu_0 = 0$ for any $a \in C_o^{\infty}(T^*X)$.

Prove the fourth item by using the relation $\sigma^0(\operatorname{Op}(a)P) = a p_0$ to show that $\int a p_0 d\mu_0 = 0$ for any $a \in C_o^{\infty}(T^*X)$.

We do not give here the precise definition of "elliptic at infinity". It implies that P is invertible in a neighbourhood of infinity in the class of pseudodifferential operators. More precisely, there exists a smooth a, taking the constant value 1 in a neighbourhood of infinity in T^*X , and a pseudodifferential operator Op(b) such that

$$Op(a) = Op(b)P + R$$

where $R \in \Psi DO^{-\infty,\infty}$ is a negligible operator. From this fact, the last item follows easily. The ellipticity criterion is satisfied by the Schrödinger operator $-\frac{\hbar^2 \Delta}{2} + V$ on a compact manifold X.

Eigenfunctions of the laplacian. Let (X, g) be a riemannian manifold, and \triangle the laplacian on X associated to the metric. If $(-\hbar^2 \triangle -1)u_{\hbar} = 0$, and if we denote μ_{\hbar} the corresponding Husimi measures, then every limit point of the family $(\mu_{\hbar})_{\hbar\longrightarrow 0}$ is a probability measure μ_0 carried by the unit cotangent bundle S^*X , invariant under the geodesic flow (apply Theorem 1.11 and remember Exercise 1.3). It is a widely open problem to find all the possible limits among the invariant measure on S^*X .

In the case of the round sphere or a flat torus, it is easy to construct families of eigenfunctions (u_{\hbar}) for which μ_{\hbar} converges to the uniform measure on any given invariant lagrangian torus. On the flat torus $\mathbb{T}^d = \mathbb{R}^d/\mathbb{Z}^d$ for instance, the family $(e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi_{0}.x})$, where ξ_0 is a unitary vector (and of course $\frac{\xi_0}{\hbar} \in$ $2\pi\mathbb{Z}^d$), has a unique semiclassical measure, the uniform measure on the lagrangian torus $\{(x,\xi_0), x \in \mathbb{T}^d\}$. More generally, for a completely integrable system, one can use WKB methods [Brill26, Kr26, Wtz26, Kell58, Masl65] to build quasimodes, in other words solutions of $\|(-\hbar^2 \bigtriangleup -1)u_{\hbar}\| = O(\hbar^{\infty})$, the Husimi measures of which concentrate to any given invariant torus⁷. Historically, the case of completely integrable systems, or perturbations thereof,

⁷Note that $\|(-\hbar^2 \bigtriangleup -1)u_{\hbar}\| \le \varepsilon \|u_{\hbar}\|$ implies that 1 is an ε -neighbourhood of the spectrum of $-\hbar^2 \bigtriangleup$, but does not imply that u_{\hbar} is close to an eigenfunction of the laplacian.

was the most important, since it is related to the study of small atoms and ions. The "opposite" case of chaotic systems has been studied only more recently [Berr77, Vor77, Bo91], but the question of the localization of stationary motions in ergodic systems was already asked explicitly by Einstein [Ein17].

In these notes, we shall focus on the case where the geodesic flow has a very chaotic behaviour. When the geodesic flow is ergodic, the semiclassical measures are essentially described by the Snirelman theorem [Sn74, Ze87, CdV85] (see Chapter 2). Let X be a compact riemannian manifold; call $0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \cdots$ the eigenvalues of the laplacian, and let (ψ_j) be an orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions $: -\Delta \psi_j = \lambda_j \psi_j$. Denote μ_j the corresponding Husimi measures (the semiclassical parameter is $\hbar = \lambda_j^{-1/2}$). We shall call L_E the desintegration of the Liouville measure $dx d\xi$ with respect to the value E of the hamiltonian $\frac{\|\xi\|^2}{2} = E$. If the geodesic flow on S^*X is ergodic with respect to $L_{\frac{1}{2}}$, then there is a "density 1" subsequence of te family (μ_j) converging to $L_{\frac{1}{2}}$:

Theorem 1.13 (Snirelman theorem). [Sn74, Ze87, CdV85] Assume that the action of S^*X is ergodic, with respect to the Liouville measure $L_{\frac{1}{2}}$. Then, there exists a subset $S \subset \mathbb{N}$ of density 1, such that

$$\mu_j \underset{j \longrightarrow +\infty, j \in \mathbb{S}}{\longrightarrow} L_{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

In specific examples, what we would like to know is whether the whole sequence μ_j converges to the Liouville measure, or if there can be exceptional subsequences converging to other invariant measures. In the case of nonpositively curved surfaces with flat cylinders, it is believed that certain sequences of eigenfunctions concentrate asymptotically on these cylinders. But in (strictly) negative curvature, it was conjectured by Rudnick and Sarnak [RudSa94] that the Liouville measure is the unique limit point of the μ_j s. It would imply, in particular, that the sequence of probability measures $|\psi_j(x)|^2 d\text{Vol}(x)$ on X converges weakly to the riemannian volume measure Vol.

Chapter 2

Entropy and localization of eigenfunctions.

2.1 Motivations

The field of *quantum chaos* tries to understand how the chaotic behaviour of a classical Hamiltonian system affects its quantum counterpart. For instance, let X be a compact Riemannian C^{∞} manifold, with negative sectional curvatures. The geodesic flow has the Anosov property, which is considered as the ideal chaotic behaviour in the theory of dynamical systems. The corresponding quantum dynamics is the unitary flow generated by the Laplace-Beltrami operator on $L^2(X)$. One expects that the chaotic properties of the geodesic flow influence the spectral theory of the Laplacian. The Random Matrix conjecture [Bo91] asserts that the large eigenvalues should, after proper renormalization, statistically resemble those of a large random matrix, at least for a generic Anosov metric. The Quantum Unique Ergodicity conjecture [RudSa94] (see also [Berr77, Vor77]) deals with the corresponding eigenfunctions ψ : it claims that the probability density $|\psi(x)|^2 dx$ should approach (in a weak sense) the Riemannian volume, when the eigenvalue tends to infinity. In fact a stronger property should hold for the microlocal lift of this measure to the cotangent bundle T^*X , which describes the distribution of the wave function ψ on the classical phase space (position and momentum).

To describe the problem, we will adopt a semiclassical point of view, that is, consider the eigenstates of eigenvalue unity of the semiclassical Laplacian $-\hbar^2 \triangle$, in the semiclassical limit $\hbar \to 0$. We denote by $(\psi_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ an orthonormal basis of $L^2(X)$ made of eigenfunctions of the Laplacian, and by $(-\frac{1}{\hbar_r^2})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ the corresponding eigenvalues:

$$-\hbar_k^2 \triangle \psi_k = \psi_k, \quad \text{with} \quad \hbar_{k+1} \le \hbar_k.$$
(2.1)

We are interested in the high-energy eigenfunctions of $-\triangle$, in other words

the semiclassical limit $\hbar_k \to 0$.

To an eigenfunction ψ_k corresponds a distribution on T^*X defined by

$$\mu_k(a) = \langle \psi_k, \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar_k}(a)\psi_k \rangle_{L^2(X)}, \qquad a \in C_o^{\infty}(T^*X).$$

Here Op_{\hbar_k} is a quantization procedure, set at the scale \hbar_k , which associates a bounded operator on $L^2(X)$ to any smooth phase space function a with nice behaviour at infinity. If a is a function on the manifold X, we have $\mu_k(a) =$ $\int_X a(x) |\psi_k(x)|^2 dx + O(\hbar)$: the distribution μ_k is a microlocal lift of the probability measure $|\psi_k(x)|^2 dx$ into a phase space distribution. This means that it contains the information about the frequency vector of ψ_k (in other words, the momentum), in addition to the position distribution $|\psi_k(x)|^2 dx$. The definition of μ_k is not canonical, it depends on a certain number of choices, like the choice of local coordinates, or of the quantization procedure (Weyl, anti-Wick, "right" or "left" quantization...); this somehow reflects the fact that, for $\hbar > 0$, it does not really make sense to study simultaneously the position and frequency of the wave. Mathematically speaking, one cannot study at the same time the local property of a function and of its Fourier transform around some point $(x,\xi) \in T^*X$. But the asymptotic behaviour of μ_k when $\hbar_k \longrightarrow 0$ does not depend on the arbitrary conventions involved in its definition. We saw that it is possible to construct $Op_{\hbar_k}^+$ so that the μ_k are probability measures, in which case we call them *Husimi measures* associated to the eigenfunctions ψ_k . We call *semiclassical measures* the limit points of the sequence $(\mu_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$, in the distribution topology.

The quantum hamiltonian $-\frac{\hbar^2 \Delta}{2}$ generates the Schrödinger flow $(U_{\hbar}^t) = (\exp(it\hbar\frac{\Delta}{2}))$ acting unitarily on $L^2(X)$. A solution of (2.1) is an invariant state of the flow (U_{\hbar}^t) , corresponding to the energy $\frac{1}{2}$ of the hamiltonian. In the semiclassical limit $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$, "quantum mechanics converges to classical mechanics". We will denote $|\cdot|_x$ the norm on T_x^*M given by the metric. The geodesic flow $(g^t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$ is the Hamiltonian flow on T^*X generated by the Hamiltonian $H(x,\xi) = \frac{|\xi|_x^2}{2}$. In the previous chapter we saw :

Proposition 2.1. Any semiclassical measure is a probability measure carried on the energy layer $S^*X = H^{-1}(\frac{1}{2})$. This measure is invariant under the geodesic flow.

If the geodesic flow has the Anosov property — for instance if X has negative sectional curvature — then there exist many invariant probability measures on S^*X , in addition to the Liouville measure. The geodesic flow has countably many periodic orbits, each of them carrying an invariant probability measure. There are still many others, like the equilibrium states obtained by variational principles [KH].

For manifolds with an ergodic geodesic flow (with respect to the Liouville measure), it has been known for some time that *almost all* eigenfunctions become uniformly distributed over S^*X , in the semiclassical limit. This property is dubbed as Quantum Ergodicity :

Theorem 2.2. [Sn74, Ze87, CdV85] Let X be a compact Riemannian manifold, assume that the action of the geodesic flow on S^*X is ergodic with respect to the Liouville measure $L_{\frac{1}{2}}$. Let $(\psi_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be an orthonormal basis of $L^2(X)$ consisting of eigenfunctions of the Laplacian (2.1), and let (μ_k) be the associated distributions on T^*X .

Then, there exists a subset $S \subset \mathbb{N}$ of density 1, such that

$$\mu_k \underset{k \longrightarrow \infty, k \in \mathbb{S}}{\longrightarrow} L_{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Proof: Let us recall the main lines of the argument, and see where the ergodicity comes into play. For all $a \in C_o^{\infty}(T^*X)$, one first shows, without using any assumption on the dynamics, that

$$\sum_{j,\lambda_j \le E} \int a \, d\mu_j \underset{E \longrightarrow +\infty}{\sim} \frac{b_d}{(2\pi)^d} Vol(X) \int_{S^*X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}} \times E^{d/2}.$$
(2.2)

The constant b_d is the volume of the euclidean *d*-dimensional ball. The idea is to express in two different ways the trace of $\operatorname{Op}_{\sqrt{E}}(a)$: the trace can be expressed either as a spectral sum $\sum_k \langle \operatorname{Op}(a)\psi_k, \psi_k \rangle$ or as the integral of the kernel on the diagonal (1.29). There are some technical details we skip here

From (2.2) one can deduce the Weyl asymptotics :

$$N(E) = \sharp\{j, \lambda_j \le E\} \sim \frac{b_d}{(2\pi)^d} Vol(X) E^{d/2}$$

Thus, we have a Cesaro convergence :

$$\frac{1}{N(E)} \sum_{j,\,\lambda_j \leq E} \int a \, d\mu_j \underset{E \longrightarrow +\infty}{\longrightarrow} \int_{S^*X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Using the ergodicity assumption, one can do better :

$$\frac{1}{N(E)} \sum_{j,\lambda_j \le E} \left| \int a \, d\mu_j - \int_{S^*X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}} \right|^2 \underset{E \longrightarrow +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0. \tag{2.3}$$

We know from Theorem 1.11 (3.) that $|\int a d\mu_j - \int a \circ g^t d\mu_j| \longrightarrow 0$ as $j \longrightarrow +\infty$, for any fixed t. Thus, we can write, for any given T,

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{E \to \infty} \frac{1}{N(E)} \sum_{j, \lambda_j \le E} \left| \int a \, d\mu_j - \int_{S^* X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}} \right|^2 \\ &= \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N(E)} \sum_{j, \lambda_j \le E} \left| \int M^T a \, d\mu_j - \int_{S^* X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}} \right|^2 \\ &\le \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N(E)} \sum_{j, \lambda_j \le E} \mu_j \left((M^T a - \int_{S^* X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}})^2 \right) \\ &= L_{\frac{1}{2}} \left((M^T a - \int_{S^* X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}})^2 \right). \end{split}$$

We denoted $M^T a = T^{-1} \int_0^T a \circ g^t dt$ the time average of a on the interval [0, T]. We used the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, which requires to know that the μ_j can be assumed to be *probability* measures (see §1.5. This was the missing argument in Snirelman's original paper). In the last line, we used the Cesaro convergence of the sequence (μ_j) . Letting at the end T tend to $+\infty$, the ergodicity assumption means that

$$L_{\frac{1}{2}}\left((M^T a - \int_{S^* X} a \, dL_{\frac{1}{2}})^2 \right) \underset{T \to \infty}{\longrightarrow} 0;$$

which proves (2.3).

Finally, the Snirelman theorem results from the classical lemma :

Lemma 2.3. Let (a_n) be a sequence of nonnegative numbers. If

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=0}^{n}a_k\longrightarrow 0$$

then there exists $S \subset \mathbb{N}$ of density 1 such that $a_n \xrightarrow[n \in S]{} 0$.

Remark 2.4. The result was subsequently extended to more general hamiltonians [HelMR87], to ergodic billiards [GL93, ZeZw96]; and to certain discrete time symplectic dynamical systems.

The question of knowing, in particular cases, if there can exist "exceptional" subsequences with a different behaviour is widely open. On a negatively curved manifold, the geodesic flow satisfies the ergodicity assumption, and in fact much stronger properties : mixing, K-property,... In this case, the Quantum Unique Ergodicity conjecture [RudSa94] expresses the belief that there exists a unique semiclassical measure, namely the Liouville measure on S^*X : the whole sequence (μ_k) converges to $L_{\frac{1}{2}}$. In other words, in the semiclassical régime all eigenfunctions should become uniformly distributed over S^*X .

So far the most precise results on this question were obtained for manifolds X with constant negative curvature and *arithmetic* properties: see Rudnick–Sarnak [RudSa94], Wolpert [Wol01]. In that very particular situation, there exists a countable commutative family of self–adjoint operators commuting with the Laplacian : the Hecke operators. One may thus decide to restrict the attention to common bases of eigenfunctions, often called "arithmetic" eigenstates, or Hecke eigenstates. A few years ago, Lindenstrauss [Li06] proved that the arithmetic eigenstates become asymptotically equidistributed (Arithmetic Quantum Unique Ergodicity). If there is some degeneracy in the spectrum of the Laplacian, it could be possible that the Quantum Unique Ergodicity conjectured by Rudnick and Sarnak holds for one orthonormal basis but not for another. In the arithmetic case, it is believed that the spectrum of the Laplacian has bounded multiplicity, in which case it would be a harmless assumption to consider only Hecke eigenstates.

Nevertheless, one may be less optimistic about the general conjecture. Faure–Nonnenmacher–De Bièvre exhibited in [FNDB03] a simple example of a symplectic Anosov dynamical system, namely the action of the linear hyperbolic automorphism $\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ on the 2-torus, the Weyl–quantization of which does not satisfy the Quantum Unique Ergodicity conjecture. In this model, it is known [KurRud00] that there is one orthonormal family of eigenfunctions satisfying Quantum Unique Ergodicity, but, due to high degeneracies in the spectrum, one can also construct eigenfunctions with a different behaviour. Precisely, [FNDB03] construct a family of eigenstates for which the semiclassical measure consists in two ergodic components: half of it is the Liouville measure, while the other half is a Dirac peak on a single unstable periodic orbit. It was also shown that this half-localization on a periodic orbit is *maximal* for this model [FN04] : a semiclassical measure cannot have more than half the mass carried by a finite union of closed orbits. Another type of semiclassical measure was recently obtained by Kelmer for a quantized automorphism on a higher-dimensional torus [Kelm05]: it consists in the Lebesgue measure on some invariant co-isotropic subspace of the torus. For these torus automorphisms, the existence of exceptional eigenstates is due to some nongeneric algebraic properties of the classical and quantized systems.

2.2 Main result.

We wish to consider the Kolmogorov-Sinai entropy of semiclassical measures. We work on a compact manifold X of arbitrary dimension, and assume that the geodesic flow has the Anosov property. In fact, our method is very general, and can without doubt be adapted to more general Anosov Hamiltonian systems.

The Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy, also called metric entropy, of a (g^t) invariant probability measure μ is a nonnegative number $h_{KS}(\mu)$ that describes, in some sense, the complexity of a μ -typical orbit of the flow. The
precise definition will be given later, but for the moment let us just give
a few facts. A measure carried on a closed geodesic has zero entropy. In
constant curvature, the entropy is known to be maximal for the Liouville
measure. More generally, an upper bound on the entropy is given by the
Ruelle inequality: since the geodesic flow has the Anosov property, the energy layer S^*X is foliated into unstable manifolds of the flow, and for any

invariant probability measure μ one has

$$h_{KS}(\mu) \le \left| \int_{S^*X} \log J^u(\rho) d\mu(\rho) \right| \,. \tag{2.4}$$

In this inequality, $J^u(\rho)$ is the unstable Jacobian of the flow at the point $\rho \in S^*X$, defined as the Jacobian of the map g^{-1} restricted to the unstable manifold at the point $g^1\rho$ (the average of $\log J^u$ over any invariant measure is negative). In fact, if μ is an invariant probability measure,

$$\int_{S^*X} \log J^u(\rho) d\mu(\rho) = -\int_{S^*X} \sum \lambda_j^+(\rho) d\mu(\rho)$$

where $\lambda_j^+(\rho)$ are the positive Lyapunov exponents of ρ . If X has dimension d and has constant sectional curvature -1, (2.4) just reads $h_{KS}(\mu) \leq d-1$. Besides, equality holds in (2.4) if and only if μ is the Liouville measure on S^*X [LY85].

Let μ be a (g^t) -invariant probability measure on S^*X . According to the Birkhoff ergodic theorem, for μ -almost every $\rho \in S^*X$, the weak limit

$$\mu^{\rho} = \lim_{|t| \longrightarrow \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \delta_{g^s \rho} ds$$

exists, and is an ergodic probability measure. We can then write

$$\mu = \int_{S^*X} \mu^{\rho} d\mu(\rho),$$

which is called the ergodic decomposition of μ . Note that the ergodic probability measures are the extremal points of the compact convex set of (g^t) invariant probability measures.

To understand the connection of our results with the previous discussion, it is important to know that the entropy if an *affine* functional on the convex set of (g^t) -invariant probability measures. In fact, we have

$$h_{KS}(\mu) = \int_{S^*X} h_{KS}(\mu^{\rho}) d\mu(\rho).$$

In what follows, we consider a certain subsequence of eigenstates $(\psi_{k_j})_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ of the Laplacian, such that the corresponding sequence (μ_{k_j}) converges to a certain semiclassical measure μ (see the discussion preceding Proposition 2.1). The subsequence (ψ_{k_j}) will simply be denoted by $(\psi_{\hbar})_{\hbar\to 0}$, using the slightly abusive notation $\psi_{\hbar} = \psi_{\hbar_{k_j}}$ for the eigenstate ψ_{k_j} . Each state ψ_{\hbar} satisfies

$$(-\hbar^2 \bigtriangleup -1)\psi_{\hbar} = 0.$$
(2.5)

It is proved in [A05] that the entropy of any semiclassical measure associated with eigenfunctions of the laplacian is strictly positive. In [AN07] more explicit lower bounds were obtained. We shall prove here the following lower bound : **Theorem 2.5.** Let μ be a semiclassical measure associated to the eigenfunctions of the Laplacian on X. Then its metric entropy satisfies

$$h_{KS}(\mu) \ge \left| \int_{S^*X} \log J^u(\rho) d\mu(\rho) \right| - \frac{(d-1)}{2} \lambda_{\max} , \qquad (2.6)$$

where $d = \dim M$ and $\lambda_{\max} = \lim_{t \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{t} \log \sup_{\rho \in S^*X} |dg_{\rho}^t|$ is the maximal expansion rate of the geodesic flow on S^*X .

In particular, if X has constant sectional curvature -1, this means that

$$h_{KS}(\mu) \ge \frac{d-1}{2}.\tag{2.7}$$

The bound (2.7) in the above theorem is much sharper than the bound proved in [A05] in the case of constant curvature. On the other hand, if the curvature varies a lot (still being negative everywhere), the right hand side of (2.6) may be negative, in which case the above bound is trivial and the result of [A05] is better. We believe this to be but a technical shortcoming of our method, and would actually expect the following bound to hold:

$$h_{KS}(\mu) \ge \frac{1}{2} \left| \int_{S^*X} \log J^u(\rho) d\mu(\rho) \right| .$$
(2.8)

Our result is compatible with the kind of counter-examples obtained by Faure–Nonnenmacher–De Bièvre [FNDB03]. It allows certain ergodic components to be carried by closed geodesics, but says that others must have positive entropy. Compare with the much stronger result obtained in the arithmetic case by Bourgain and Lindenstrauss :

Theorem 2.6. [BLi03] Let X be a congruence arithmetic surface, and (ψ_j) an orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions for the laplacian and the Hecke operators.

Let μ be a corresponding semiclassical measure, with ergodic decomposition $\mu = \int_{S^*X} \mu^{\rho} d\mu(\rho)$, then for almost all ergodic components we have $h_{KS}(\mu^{\rho}) \geq \frac{1}{9}$.

Quantum Unique Ergodicity would mean that $h_{KS}(\mu) = \left| \int_{S^*X} \log J^u(\rho) d\mu(\rho) \right|$ [LY85]. We believe however that (2.8) is the optimal result that can be obtained without using more precise information, like for instance upper bounds on the multiplicities of eigenvalues. Indeed, in the above mentioned examples of Anosov systems where the Quantum Unique Ergodicity conjecture is wrong, the bound (2.8) is actually *sharp* [FNDB03, Kelm05, AN06]. In those examples, the spectrum has very high degeneracies, which allows for much freedom to select the eigenstates, and could be responsible for the failure of Quantum Unique Ergodicity. Such high degeneracies are not expected to happen in the case of the Laplacian on a negatively curved manifold. For the moment, however, there is no clear understanding of the precise relation between spectral degeneracies and failure of Quantum Unique Ergodicity.

2.3 Definition of entropy, and main idea of the proof.

Let μ be a probability measure on T^*X . Let (P_1, \ldots, P_K) be a finite measurable partition of the unit tangent bundle : $T^*X = P_1 \sqcup \ldots \sqcup P_K$. The Shannon entropy of μ with respect to the partition P is

$$h_P(\mu) = -\sum_{k=1}^{K} \mu(P_k) \log \mu(P_k).$$
(2.9)

Assume now that μ is (g^t) -invariant. For any integer n, denote $P^{\vee n}$ the partition formed by the sets $P_{\alpha_0} \cap g^{-1}P_{\alpha_1} \dots \cap g^{-n+1}P_{\alpha_{n-1}}$. Denote

$$h_{n}(\mu, P) = h_{P^{\vee n}}(\mu)$$

= $-\sum_{(\alpha_{j})\in\{1,...,K\}^{\{0,...,n-1\}}} \mu(P_{\alpha_{0}}\cap g^{-1}P_{\alpha_{1}}...\cap g^{-n+1}P_{\alpha_{n-1}})\log\mu(P_{\alpha_{0}}\cap g^{-1}P_{\alpha_{1}}...\cap g^{-n+1}P_{\alpha_{n-1}}).$
(2.10)

If μ is (g^t) -invariant, it follows from the concavity of $x \mapsto -x \log x$ that

$$h_{n+m}(\mu, P) \le h_n(\mu, P) + h_m(\mu, P),$$
 (2.11)

in other words the sequence $(h_n(\mu, P))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is subadditive. The entropy of μ with respect to the action of geodesic flow and to the partition P is defined by

$$h_{KS}(\mu, P) = \lim_{n \longrightarrow +\infty} \frac{h_n(\mu, P)}{n} = \inf_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{h_n(\mu, P)}{n}.$$
 (2.12)

Note that $\mu(P_{\alpha_0} \cap g^{-1}P_{\alpha_1} \dots \cap g^{-n+1}P_{\alpha_{n-1}})$ measures the μ -probability to visit successively P_{α_0} , P_{α_1} ,..., $P_{\alpha_{n-1}}$ at times 1, 2,..., n-1 of the geodesic flow. Roughly speaking, the entropy measures the exponential decay of these probabilities when n gets large. It is easy to see that $h_{KS}(\mu, P) \geq \beta$ if there exists C such that $\mu(P_{\alpha_0} \cap g^{-1}P_{\alpha_1} \dots \cap g^{-n}P_{\alpha_n}) \leq Ce^{-\beta n}$, for all n and all $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n$.

The entropy of μ with respect to the action of the geodesic flow is defined as

$$h_{KS}(\mu) = \sup_{P} h_{KS}(\mu, P),$$
 (2.13)

the supremum running over all finite measurable partitions P. Assume μ is carried on the energy layer S^*X . Due to the Anosov property of the geodesic flow on S^*X , it is known that the supremum (2.13) is reached as soon as the maximum diameter of the sets $P_k \cap S^*X$ is small enough.

We will restrict our attention to partitions P which are actually partitions of the base X (lifted to T^*X) : $X = \bigsqcup_{k=1}^{K} P_k$. This choice is not crucial, but it simplifies certain aspects of the analysis. The existence of the limit in (2.12), and the fact that it coincides with the inf follow from a standard subadditivity argument. A crucial consequence is that $h_{KS}(., P)$ has an upper semicontinuity property : if (μ_k) is a sequence of (g^t) -invariant probability measures converging weakly to μ , then

$$h_{KS}(\mu, P) \ge \limsup_{k} h_{KS}(\mu_k, P) \tag{2.14}$$

(provided μ does not charge the boundary of P). In particular : if (μ_k) converges weakly to μ , and if we have an estimate

$$\mu_k(P_{\alpha_0} \cap g^{-1}P_{\alpha_1} \dots \cap g^{-n}P_{\alpha_n}) \le C_k e^{-\beta n}$$

where β does not depend on k, we have $h_{KS}(\mu_k, P) \ge \beta$ for all k, and this estimate goes to the limit to yield $h_{KS}(\mu, P) \ge \beta$.

Since our semiclassical measure μ is defined as a limit of Husimi measures associated to ψ_{\hbar} , a naive idea would be to estimate from below the entropy of ψ_{\hbar} and then take the limit.

A first problem is to decide how to define the ψ_{\hbar} -probability to visit successively P_{α_0} , P_{α_1} ,..., $P_{\alpha_{n-1}}$ at times 1, 2,..., n-1.

From the definition of the Husimi measures, a first idea could be to consider

$$\left\langle \psi_{\hbar}, \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}\left((\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_{0}}})\left(\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_{1}}}\circ g^{1}\right)\ldots\left(\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_{n-1}}}\circ g^{n-1}\right)\right)\psi_{\hbar}\right\rangle.$$
 (2.15)

To avoid dealing with characteristic functions (which are not quantized to pseudodifferential operators), we can smooth them by convolution and try replacing $\mathbb{1}_{P_k}$ by a smooth $\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm}$. Even so, studying the large-*n* behaviour of (2.15) is very problematic. In fact, the derivatives of $(\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_0}}^{sm})(\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_1}}^{sm} \circ g^1) \dots (\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_{n-1}}}^{sm} \circ g^{n-1})$ grow like e^n , so that when *n* reaches the size $|\log \hbar|$ this function no longer belongs to any reasonable symbol space (the operator is not a pseudodifferential operator).

We also note that an overlap of the form (2.15) is a *hybrid* expression: this is a *quantum* matrix element, but the operator is defined in terms of the *classical* flow ! From the point of view of quantum mechanics, it is more natural to consider, instead, the operator obtained as the product of Heisenberg-evolved quantized functions, namely

$$\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-2}}(n-2)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_1}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}.$$
(2.16)

Here we used the shorthand notation $\hat{P}_k \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Op}(\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm}), k \in [1, K]$ (multiplication operators), and $\hat{P}_k(t) = U_{\hbar}^{-t} \hat{P}_k U_{\hbar}^t$. Instead of (2.15), a second idea would be to consider

$$\left\langle \psi_{\hbar}, \hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1) \dots \hat{P}_{\alpha_1}(1) \hat{P}_{\alpha_0} \psi_{\hbar} \right\rangle.$$
 (2.17)

as the ψ_{\hbar} -probability to visit successively P_{α_0} , $P_{\alpha_1},...,P_{\alpha_{n-1}}$ at times 1, 2,..., n-1. However, the scalar product is a complex number, and can not be directly manipulated as a probability.

Our third and final try is to consider

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_{1}}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{0}}\psi_{\hbar}\|^{2}.$$
(2.18)

In fact, if we do the smoothing of $\mathbb{1}_{P_k}$ so that

$$\sum_{k} (\mathbb{1}_{P_k})^2 \equiv 1$$

then the norms (2.18) can actually be manipulated like probability measures :

$$\sum_{\dots,\alpha_{n-1}} \|\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-2}}(n-2)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_{1}}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{0}}\psi_{\hbar}\|^{2} = 1,$$

and

 α_0

$$\sum_{\alpha_{n-1}} \|\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-2}}(n-2)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_1}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\psi_{\hbar}\|^2$$
$$= \|\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-2}}(n-2)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_1}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\psi_{\hbar}\|^2.$$

Finally, using the Egorov theorem (1.32), we see that, for fixed n,

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_{1}}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{0}}\psi_{\hbar}\|^{2} \underset{\hbar \longrightarrow 0}{\longrightarrow} \mu\left((\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_{0}}}^{sm})^{2}(\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_{1}}}^{sm} \circ g^{1})^{2}\dots(\mathbb{1}_{P_{\alpha_{n-1}}}^{sm} \circ g^{n-1})^{2}\right)$$

if the Husimi measures of ψ_{\hbar} converge to μ . Apart from the smoothing, this is the quantity we are interested in when computing entropy of μ (2.10).

We actually proved in [A05] that

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_{1}}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{0}}\psi_{\hbar}\|^{2} \leq \frac{C}{\hbar^{d}}e^{-(d-1)n}$$

say, in dimension d and constant curvature -1, and assuming the diameter of the P_k is small enough¹. From this, it would be tempting to deduce that the entropy of the ψ_{\hbar} -Husimi measures is bounded below by d-1, then use the semicontinuity property (2.14) to deduce that $h_{KS}(\mu) \ge d-1$ (thus proving quantum unique ergodicity).

Of course, we can not apply (2.14), since we are not in the situation of a sequence (μ_k) of g^t -invariant probability measures converging to μ . To use (2.14) we need to know if a similar property holds in our quantum framework, using expressions such as (2.18) to evaluate entropies. This is, in fact, NOT the case : a factor of 2 is lost somewhere in the proof, and we will end up proving

$$h_{KS}(\mu) \ge \frac{d-1}{2}.$$

¹To prove this estimate, we assume, without any loss of generality, that the injectivity radius of X is larger than 1.

Chapter 3

The entropic uncertainty principle.

In this chapter, we start proving our main theorem, (2.6). To simplify the notations we restrict ourselves to the case of constant curvature $\equiv -1$.

We start with a functional inequality called the "entropic uncertainty principle".

3.1 The abstract result...

We consider a complex Hilbert space $(\mathcal{H}, \langle ., . \rangle)$, and denote $\|\psi\| = \sqrt{\langle \psi, \psi \rangle}$ the associated norm. The same notation $\|.\|$ will also be used for the operator norm on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$.

We define the following family of l_p norms on \mathcal{H}^N : for $\Psi = (\Psi_1, \ldots, \Psi_N) \in \mathcal{H}^N$, we let

$$\|\Psi\|_{p} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\Psi_{k}\|^{p}\right)^{1/p}, \quad 1 \le p < \infty, \text{ and } \|\Psi\|_{\infty} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \max_{k} \|\Psi_{k}\|.$$
 (3.1)

For p = 2, this norm coincides with the Hilbert norm deriving from the scalar product

$$\langle \Psi, \Phi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^N} = \sum_k \langle \Psi_k, \Phi_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

We can define similarly a family of l_p norms on $\mathcal{H}^M \ni \Phi = (\Phi_1, \dots, \Phi_M)$:

$$\|\Phi\|_{p} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{M} \|\Phi_{j}\|^{p}\right)^{1/p}, \quad 1 \le p < \infty, \text{ and } \|\Phi\|_{\infty} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \max_{j} \|\Phi_{j}\|.$$
 (3.2)

For $\Psi \in \mathcal{H}^N$ with $\|\Psi\|_2 = 1$, we define its entropy,

$$h(\Psi) = -\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\Psi_k\|^2 \log \|\Psi_k\|^2;$$

(and we define similarly the entropy of a normalized vector $\Phi \in \mathcal{H}^M$).

Consider the action of a bounded operator $T: \mathcal{H}^N \to \mathcal{H}^M$, which we present as a $M \times N$ matrix (T_{jk}) of bounded operators on \mathcal{H} . We denote $||T||_{p,q}$ the norm of T from $l_p(\mathcal{H}^N)$ to $l_q(\mathcal{H}^M)$, for $1 \leq p,q \leq \infty$.

Theorem 3.1 (Riesz interpolation theorem). [DunSchw, Section VI.10] The function $\log ||T||_{1/a,1/b}$ is a convex function of (a,b) in the square $0 \leq 1$ $a, b \leq 1.$

From this theorem, Maassen and Uffink derived a new form of uncertainty relations [MaaUff88].

Theorem 3.2. Assume that $||T||_{2,2} = 1$, which implies in particular that $||T_{jk}|| \leq 1$ for all k, j. Introduce the real number $c(T) = \max_{j,k} ||T_{jk}||$, where the norm is the operator norm in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$.

For all $\Psi \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $\|\Psi\|_2 = 1$ and $\|T\Psi\|_2 = 1$, we have

$$h(T\Psi) + h(\Psi) \ge -2\log c(T) \,.$$

Proof: In the case a = 1, b = 0, we have for any Ψ ,

$$\|T\Psi\|_{\infty} = \sup_{j} \|(T\Psi)_{j}\| \le \sup_{j,k} \|T_{j,k}\| \sum_{k'} \|\Psi_{k'}\| = \sup_{j,k} \|T_{j,k}\| \|\Psi\|_{1},$$

which can be written as $||T||_{1,\infty} \leq \sup_{j,k} ||T_{j,k}|| \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} c(T)$. Let us assume that T is contracting on l_2 : $||T||_{2,2} \leq 1$. We take $t \in [0, 1]$ and $a_t = \frac{1+t}{2}$, $b_t = \frac{1-t}{2}$ to interpolate between (1/2, 1/2) and (1, 0); Theorem 3.2 implies that

$$||T||_{1/a_t, 1/b_t} \le c(T)^t$$
.

This is equivalent to the following

Corollary 3.3. Let the operator $T: \mathcal{H}^N \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^M$ satisfy $||T||_{2,2} \leq 1$ and call $c(T) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sup_{j,k} ||T_{j,k}||$. Then, for all $t \in [0,1]$, for all $\Psi \in \mathcal{H}^N$,

$$||T\Psi||_{\frac{2}{1-t}} \le c(T)^t ||\Psi||_{\frac{2}{1+t}}$$
.

We define for any r > 0 or -1 < r < 0 the "moments"

$$M_r(\Psi) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left(\sum_j \|\Psi_j\|^{2+2r} \right)^{1/r}$$

Corollary 3.3 leads to the following family of "uncertainty relations":

$$\forall t \in (0,1), \ \forall \Psi \in \mathbb{C}^N, \qquad M_{\frac{t}{1-t}}(T\Psi) M_{\frac{-t}{1+t}}(\Psi) \le c(T)^2.$$
(3.3)

In the case $\|\Psi\|_2 = 1$, we notice that the moments converge to the same value when $r \to 0$ from above or below:

$$\lim_{r \to 0} M_r(\Psi) = e^{-h(\Psi)}, \quad \text{where} \quad h(\Psi) = -\sum_j \|\Psi_j\|^2 \log \|\Psi_j\|^2.$$

If, furthermore, $||T\Psi||_2 = 1$, then the limit $t \to 0$ of the inequalities (3.3) yield the Entropic Uncertainty Principle stated in Theorem 3.2.

We shall use Theorem 3.2 in the following particular case :

Example 3.4. Suppose we have two partitions of unity $(\pi_k)_{k=1}^N$ and $(\tau_j)_{j=1}^M$, that is, two families of operators on $\mathcal H$ such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \pi_k \pi_k^* = Id, \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{M} \tau_j \tau_j^* = Id.$$
(3.4)

Let U be a unitary operator on \mathcal{H} . We can take $T_{jk} = \tau_j^* U \pi_k$.

Lemma 3.5. Let $T_{jk} = \tau_j^* U \pi_k$, for some bounded operator $U : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$. Then we have the identity

$$||T||_{2,2} = ||U||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}$$

Proof. The operator T may be described as follows. Consider a line and column vectors of operators on \mathcal{H} :

$$L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\pi_1, \dots, \pi_N), \quad \text{as well as } C = \begin{pmatrix} \tau_1^* \\ \cdots \\ \tau_M^* \end{pmatrix}.$$

We can write T = CUL. We insert this formula in the identity

$$\|T\|_{2,2}^2 = \|T^*T\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^N)} = \left\|L^{\dagger}U^*C^{\dagger}CUL\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^N)}$$

Using (3.4) for the τ_j , we notice that $C^{\dagger}C = Id_{\mathcal{H}}$, so that the norm above reads ||1

$$L^{\dagger}U^{*}UL\Big\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^{N})}$$

Then, we use the identities

$$\left\| (UL)^{\dagger}(UL) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^{N})} = \left\| (UL)(UL)^{\dagger} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} = \left\| (UL)L^{\dagger}U^{*} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} = \|UU^{*}\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}$$

where we used (3.4) for the π_{k} .

where we used (3.4) for the π_k .

Therefore, if U is contracting (resp. $||U||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$) one has $||T||_{2,2} \leq 1$ (resp. $||T||_{2,2} = 1$).

We also specify the vector Ψ by taking $\Psi_k = \pi_k^* \psi$ for some normalized $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$. From (3.4), we check that $\|\Psi\|_2 = \|\psi\|$, and also that $(T\Psi)_j = \tau_j^* U\psi$. Thus, if $\|U\psi\| = 1$, the relation (3.4) also implies $\|T\Psi\|_2 = \|U\psi\| = 1$. With this choice for T and Ψ , Theorem 3.2 reads as follows:

Theorem 3.6. Let U be an isometry on \mathcal{H} , and let π, τ be two quantum partitions of unity as in (3.4).

Define $c_{\tau,\pi}(U) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sup_{j,k} \|\tau_j^* U \pi_k\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}.$ Then, for any normalized $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$, we have

 $h_{\tau}(U\psi) + h_{\pi}(\psi) \ge -2\log c_{\tau,\pi}(U)$

where $h_{\pi}(\psi) = -\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\pi_k^* \psi\|^2 \log \|\pi_k^* \psi\|^2$ and $h_{\tau}(\psi) = -\sum_{j=1}^{M} \|\tau_j^* \psi\|^2 \log \|\tau_j^* \psi\|^2$.

Note that the definition $h_{\pi}(\psi) = -\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\pi_k^*\psi\|^2 \log \|\pi_k^*\psi\|^2$ is somewhat analogous to (2.9), π playing the role of the partition P and ψ the role of the measure μ . We will call $h_{\pi}(\psi)$ the Shannon entropy of the state ψ with respect to the partition π .

3.2 ... applied to eigenfunctions of the laplacian...

In this section we define the data to input in Theorem 3.6, in order to obtain informations on the eigenstates ψ_{\hbar} and the semiclassical measures μ considered in the previous chapters. Only the Hilbert space is fixed, $\mathcal{H} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L^2(X)$. All other data depend on the semiclassical parameter \hbar : the quantum partitions π, τ , the unitary operator U. Besides we will need yet another technical variant of Theorem 3.6.

3.2.1 Smooth partition of unity

To evaluate the Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy, we start by decomposing T^*X into a finite partition. We actually specify the form of the partition we want to use. We work with a measurable partition $(P_k)_{k=1,\ldots,K}$ of the base $X : X = \bigsqcup P_k$, that we lift to a partition of the phase space T^*X .

For semiclassical methods we actually need to work with smooth functions, so that we introduce a smooth partition of unity $(\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm})$, obtained by smoothing the characteristic functions $(\mathbb{1}_{P_k})$ with a convolution kernel. We require that the smoothing be done so that $\sum_{k=1}^{K} (\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm})^2 = 1$.

We finally denote $\hat{P}_k = \text{Op}(\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm})$ (it is just the operator of multiplication by $\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm}$). We have

$$\forall x \in M, \qquad \sum_{k=1}^{K} \hat{P}_k^2 = I, \qquad (3.5)$$

which means that they form a quantum partition of unity as in (3.4), which we will call $\mathcal{P}^{(0)}$.

3.2.2 Refinement of the partition under the Schrödinger flow.

We denote by $U^t = \exp(it\hbar \Delta/2)$ the quantum propagator. With no loss of generality, we will assume that the injectivity radius of X is much greater than 1, and work with the propagator at time one, $U = U^1$. This propagator quantizes the geodesic flow at time one, g^1 . The \hbar -dependence of U will be implicit in our notations.

As one does to compute the Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy of an invariant measure, we define a new quantum partition of unity by evolving and refining the initial partition $\mathcal{P}^{(0)}$ under the quantum evolution. For each time $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and any sequence of symbols $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_0 \cdots \alpha_{n-1}), \alpha_i \in [1, K]$ (we say that the sequence $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ is of length $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = n$), we define the operators

$$\hat{P}_{\alpha} = \hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-2}}(n-2)\dots\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}.$$
(3.6)

We keep using the notation $A(t) = U^{-t}AU^t$ for the quantum evolution of an operator A. From (3.5) and the unitarity of U, the family of operators $\{\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\}_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=n}$ obviously satisfies the relation $\sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=n} \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}^* = Id_{L^2}$, and therefore forms a quantum partition which we call $\mathcal{P}^{(n)}$. We also have $\sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=n} \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}^* \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} = Id_{L^2}$, and we denote $\mathcal{T}^{(n)}$ the partition of unity given by the family of operators $\{\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}^*\}_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=n}$.

3.2.3

In the entropic uncertainty principle, Theorem 3.6, we shall input the following data :

- the quantum partition $\pi = \mathcal{P}^{(n)}$ is given by the family of operators $\{\hat{P}_{\alpha}, |\alpha| = n\}$. The quantum partition $\tau = \mathcal{T}^{(n)}$ is given by the family of operators $\{\hat{P}_{\alpha}^*, |\alpha| = n\}$. The integer *n* will always be of order $\mathcal{K}|\log \hbar|$, where \mathcal{K} will be determined later.
- the isometry will be $\mathcal{U} = U^n$.

To apply Theorem 3.6 we would need an upper bound on $c_{\mathcal{T}^{(n)},\mathcal{P}^{(n)}}(\mathcal{U}) = \max_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=|\boldsymbol{\alpha}'|=n} \|\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}'} U^n \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\|$. We remark that $\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}'} U^n \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$ can be developed as

$$U^{-n+1}\hat{P}_{\alpha'_{n-1}}U\cdots U\hat{P}_{\alpha'_1}U\hat{P}_{\alpha'_0}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}\cdots U\hat{P}_{\alpha_1}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}$$

or equivalently

$$U^{n+1}\hat{P}_{\alpha'_{n}}(2n)\cdots\hat{P}_{\alpha'_{1}}(n+1)\hat{P}_{\alpha'_{0}}(n)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)\cdots\hat{P}_{\alpha_{1}}(1)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{0}}.$$

The best bound we can hope for on the norm of these operators is certainly the trivial one : $c_{\mathcal{T}^{(n)},\mathcal{P}^{(n)}}(\mathcal{U}) \leq 1$. On the other hand, if we add an energy cutoff $Op_{\hbar}(\chi)$ we can prove an interesting bound : see Theorem 3.9 below.

3.2.4 The main estimate

Let us assume (without loss of generality) that the injectivity radius of X is greater than 1; and that the diameter of each P_k is small enough so that, for every j, k, for every $x, y \in P_j, P_k$, there is at most one unit speed geodesic joining x and y in time 1.

The estimate essentially proven in [A05] is :

Theorem 3.7. Let χ be an energy cut-off, that is, a smooth compactly supported function vanishing outside $H^{-1}([1/2 - \varepsilon, 1/2 + \varepsilon])$.

Given $\mathcal{K} > 0$ and a partition $\mathcal{P}^{(0)}$, there exists $\hbar_{\mathcal{K},\mathcal{P}^{(0)},\chi}$ such that, for any $\hbar \leq \hbar_{\mathcal{K},\mathcal{P}^{(0)},\chi}$, for any positive integer $n \leq \mathcal{K} |\log \hbar|$, and any pair of sequences $\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}'$ of length n,

$$\|\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}'} U^n \, \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \operatorname{Op}(\chi)\| \le C \, \hbar^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-(d-1)n} (1+O(\varepsilon))^n \,. \tag{3.7}$$

The constant C only depends on the Riemannian manifold.

Remark 3.8. If we were in variable curvature, instead of the exponent d-1 we would have a variable exponent depending on the local Lyapunov exponents.

The idea in Theorem 3.7 is rather simple, although the technical implementation becomes cumbersome. We first show that any state in the image of $Op(\chi)$ can be decomposed as a superposition of essentially $\hbar^{-\frac{d}{2}}$ normalized lagrangian states, supported on lagrangian manifolds transverse to the stable leaves of the flow. In fact the lagrangian states we work with are truncated δ -functions, supported on spheres S_z^*X . The action of the operator $U^{n-1}\hat{P}_{\alpha'}U^n\hat{P}_{\alpha} = \hat{P}_{\alpha'_{n-1}}U\cdots U\hat{P}_{\alpha'_0}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}\cdots U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}$ on such lagrangian states is described by the theory of Fourier integral operators (WKB methods), and is intuitively simple to understand : each application of U stretches the lagrangian in the unstable direction whereas each multiplication by \hat{P}_{α} chops a small piece of lagrangian. This iteration of stretching and cutting accounts for the exponential decay. The proof is developed in Chapter 4.

In [AN07] the estimate of Theorem 3.7 was modified by optimizing the shape of the cutoff χ : we considered a smooth function $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$, with $\chi(t) = 1$ for $|t| \leq 1$ and $\chi_{\delta}(t) = 0$ for $|t| \geq 1$. Then, for some fixed $\delta \in (0, 1)$, we rescale that function to obtain an \hbar -dependent cutoff near S^*X :

$$\forall \hbar \in (0,1), \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall \rho \in T^*X, \qquad \chi_{\delta}(\rho;\hbar) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \chi\big(\hbar^{-1+\delta}(H(\rho)-1/2)\big).$$
(3.8)

The cutoff χ_{δ} is localized in a tubular neighbourhood of S^*X of width $2\hbar^{1-\delta}$

Theorem 3.9. [AN07] Given $\mathcal{K} > 0$ a partition $\mathcal{P}^{(0)}$ and $\delta > 0$ small enough, there exists $\hbar_{\mathcal{K},\mathcal{P}^{(0)},\delta}$ such that, for any $\hbar \leq \hbar_{\mathcal{K},\mathcal{P}^{(0)},\delta}$, for any positive integer $n \leq \mathcal{K} |\log \hbar|$, and any pair of sequences $\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}'$ of length n,

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha'} U^n \hat{P}_{\alpha} \operatorname{Op}(\chi_{\delta})\| \le C \,\hbar^{-\frac{d-1}{2}-\delta} \,e^{-(d-1)n} (1+O(h^{\delta}))^n \,. \tag{3.9}$$

The constant C only depends on the Riemannian manifold (M, g).

Theorem 3.9 essentially improves the prefactor $\hbar^{-\frac{d}{2}}$ of Theorem 3.7. Its proof is similar, the main difficulty being to define $\operatorname{Op}(\chi_{\delta})$ — the function χ_{δ} does not fall into one of the usual "nice" classes of symbols, since its derivatives explode quite fast when $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$. To define $\operatorname{Op}(\chi_{\delta})$ would be much beyond the scope of these notes (see [SZ99, AN07]).

3.2.5 Technical variant of the entropic uncertainty principle.

It must have become clear now that we cannot apply Theorem 3.6 directly, because we need to insert our energy cut-off $Op(\chi)$. On the other hand, this frequency cut-off does not really bother us, since it hardly modifies the eigenfunctions (see later (3.10)).

We generalize the statement of Theorem 3.6 by introducing an auxiliary operator \mathcal{O} .

Theorem 3.10. [AN07] Let \mathfrak{O} be a bounded operator on \mathfrak{H} . Let \mathfrak{U} be an isometry on \mathfrak{H} .

Define $c_{\mathbb{O}}^{\tau,\pi}(\mathfrak{U}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sup_{j,k} \|\tau_j^* \mathfrak{U} \pi_k \mathfrak{O}\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}.$ Then, for any $\theta \ge 0$, for any normalized $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$ satisfying

 $\forall k = 1, \dots, \mathcal{N}, \qquad \| (Id - \mathcal{O}) \pi_k^* \psi \| \le \theta \,,$

the entropies $h_{\tau}(\mathfrak{U}\psi), h_{\pi}(\psi)$ satisfy

 $h_{\tau}(\mathfrak{U}\psi) + h_{\pi}(\psi) \geq -2\log\left(c_{0}^{\pi,\tau}(\mathfrak{U}) + \mathcal{N}\theta\right).$

3.2.6 Applying the entropic uncertainty principle

We now precise all the data we will use in the entropic uncertainty principle, Theorem 3.10:

- the quantum partition $\pi = \mathcal{P}^{(n)}, \tau = \mathcal{T}^{(n)}$ have already been defined. The integer *n* will be of order $\mathcal{K}|\log \hbar|$, where the choice of \mathcal{K} will be determined later. In the semiclassical limit, these partitions have cardinality $\mathcal{N} = K^n \simeq \hbar^{-K_0}$ for some fixed $K_0 > 0$.
- the isometry will be $\mathcal{U} = U^n$.

• the operator \mathcal{O} is $\mathcal{O} = \operatorname{Op}(\chi_{\delta})$. Since we are, at the end, interested in eigenfunctions of the laplacian, we need to know that this operator hardly modifies them. In fact, for any L > 0, there exists \hbar_L such that, for any $\hbar \leq \hbar_L$, the Laplacian eigenstate satisfies

$$\forall \boldsymbol{\alpha}, |\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = n \leq \mathcal{K} |\log \hbar|, \ \| \big(\operatorname{Op}(\chi_{\delta}) - Id \big) \hat{P}^*_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \psi_{\hbar} \| \leq \hbar^L \| \psi_{\hbar} \|.$$
(3.10)

These means that, for an eigenfunction ψ_{\hbar} , all the states $\hat{P}^*_{\alpha}\psi_{\hbar}$ are very sharply microlocalized near the energy layer S^*X .

• $\theta = \hbar^L$, and L will be chosen very large.

All these quantities are defined for $n = \mathcal{K} |\log h|$, \mathcal{K} will be determined later, but fixed.

As in Theorem 3.10, the entropy associated with a state $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$ are given by

$$h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n)}}(\psi) = -\sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=n} \|\hat{P}^*_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\psi\|^2 \log\left(\|\hat{P}^*_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\psi\|^2\right).$$

Similarly,

$$h_{\mathcal{T}^{(n)}}(\psi) = -\sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=n} \|\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\psi\|^2 \log\left(\|\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\psi\|^2\right).$$

We may apply Theorem 3.10 to any sequence of states satisfying (3.10).

Corollary 3.11. Define

$$c_{\operatorname{Op}\chi_{\delta}}(U^{n}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \max_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = |\boldsymbol{\alpha}'| = n} \| \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}'} U^{n} \hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \operatorname{Op}(\chi_{\delta}) \|.$$
(3.11)

Then for any normalized state ϕ satisfying (3.10),

$$h_{\mathfrak{T}^{(n)}}(U^n \phi) + h_{\mathfrak{P}^{(n)}}(\phi) \ge -2\log \left(c_{\operatorname{Op}\chi_{\delta}}(U^n) + h^{L-K_0} \right) \,.$$

We now apply Corollary 3.11 to the particular case of the eigenstates ψ_{\hbar} . The estimate (3.9) can be rewritten as

$$c_{\text{Op}\chi_{\delta}}(U^{n}) \leq C \,\hbar^{-\frac{d-1}{2}-\delta} e^{-(d-1)n} (1+O(\hbar^{\delta}))^{n}$$

We choose L large enough such that \hbar^{L-K_0} is negligible in comparison with $\hbar^{-\frac{d-1}{2}-\delta}e^{-(d-1)n}$.

Proposition 3.12. Let $(\psi_{\hbar})_{\hbar \to 0}$ be any sequence of eigenstates (2.5). Then, in the semiclassical limit, the entropies of ψ_{\hbar} satisfy

$$h_{\mathcal{T}^{(n)}}(\psi_{\hbar}) + h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n)}}(\psi_{\hbar}) \ge 2(d-1)n + (d-1+2\delta)\log\hbar + \mathcal{O}(1).$$
(3.12)

This holds for $n \leq \mathcal{K} |\log \hbar|$ (\mathcal{K} arbitrary) and $\hbar \leq \hbar_{\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{P}^{(0)}, \delta}$.

3.3 ...and the conclusion.

Before taking the limit $\hbar \to 0$, we prove that a similar lower bound holds if we replace $n \asymp |\log \hbar|$ by some fixed n_o , and $\mathcal{P}^{(n)}$ by the corresponding partition $\mathcal{P}^{(n_o)}$. Proposition 3.13 is the semiclassical analogue of the classical subadditivity of entropy for invariant measures.

We introduce the Ehrenfest time $n_E(\hbar) = \frac{(1-\delta')|\log \hbar|}{\lambda_{\max}}$ (δ' fixed, arbitrarily small). In constant curvature -1, the expansion rate of the geodesic flow on S^*X is $\lambda_{\max} = 1$. The Ehrenfest time is the main limitation to use semiclassical methods to understand the large time behaviour of the Schrödinger flow : roughly speaking, we have $U^{-t} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a)U^t \sim \operatorname{Op}(a \circ g^t)$ for $|t| \leq \frac{n_E(\hbar)}{2}$, but for larger t we can no longer refer to the geodesic flow to understand $U^{-t} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a)U^t$. In other words, we can use our methods of classical ergodic theory for $|t| \leq \frac{n_E(\hbar)}{2}$, and not afterwards.

Proposition 3.13 (Subadditivity). Let $\delta' > 0$. There is a function $R(n_o, \hbar)$ such that, for all integer n_o ,

$$\lim_{\hbar \longrightarrow 0} |R(n_o, \hbar)| = 0$$

and such that, for all n_o , $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n_o + n \leq n_E(\hbar) = \frac{(1-\delta')|\log \hbar|}{\lambda_{\max}}$, for any (ψ_{\hbar}) normalized eigenstates satisfying (2.5), the following inequality holds:

$$h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n_o+n)}}(\psi_{\hbar}) \le h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n_o)}}(\psi_{\hbar}) + h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n)}}(\psi_{\hbar}) + R(n_o,\hbar) \,.$$

The non-commutative dynamical system formed by (U^t) acting on pseudodifferential operators is (approximately) commutative on time intervals of length $n_E(\hbar)$:

$$\|[\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a)(t), \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(b)(-t)]\|_{L^{2}(X)} = \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{c\delta'}),$$

for any time $|t| \leq \frac{n_E(\hbar)}{2}$, or equivalently (using the unitarity of U^t)

$$\|[\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(a)(t), \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(b)]\|_{L^{2}(X)} = \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{c\delta'}),$$

for any time $|t| \leq n_E(\hbar)$. On such a time interval, we almost have a commutative dynamical system, up to small errors tending to 0 with \hbar . This roughly explains why the quantum entropy $h_{\mathcal{P}(n_o+n)}(\psi_{\hbar})$ has the same subadditivity property as the classical entropy (2.11), up to small errors, as long as $n_o + n$ remains bounded by the Ehrenfest time.

Thanks to this subadditivity, we may finish the proof of Theorem 2.5. Although Proposition 3.12 held for $n \leq \mathcal{K} |\log \hbar|$ and \mathcal{K} arbitrary, we are now limited by Proposition 3.13 to $\mathcal{K} = \frac{1-\delta'}{\lambda_{\max}}$. For $n = n_E(\hbar)$, Proposition 3.12 can be written

$$h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n)}}(\psi_{\hbar}) + h_{\mathcal{T}^{(n)}}(\psi_{\hbar}) \ge 2(d-1)n - \frac{(d-1+2\delta)\lambda_{\max}}{(1-\delta')} \ n + \mathcal{O}(1) \,. \tag{3.13}$$

Let $n_o \in \mathbb{N}$ be fixed and $n = n_E(\hbar)$. Using the Euclidean division $n = qn_o + r$ (with $r \leq n_o$), Proposition 3.13 implies that for \hbar small enough,

$$\frac{h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n)}}(\psi_{\hbar})}{n} \leq \frac{h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n_o)}}(\psi_{\hbar})}{n_o} + \frac{h_{\mathcal{P}(r)}(\psi_{\hbar})}{n} + \frac{R(n_o,\hbar)}{n_o}$$

Of course a similar inequality holds with \mathcal{P} replaced by \mathcal{T} .

Using (3.12) and the fact that $h_{\mathcal{P}^{(r)}}(\psi_{\hbar})$ stays uniformly bounded (by a quantity depending on n_o) when $\hbar \to 0$, we find

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{h_{\mathcal{P}^{(n_o)},}(\psi_{\hbar})}{n_o} + \frac{h_{\mathcal{T}^{(n_o)},}(\psi_{\hbar})}{n_o} \right] \ge (d-1) - \frac{(d-1+2\delta)\lambda_{\max}}{2(1-\delta')} n + \mathcal{O}(1) - \frac{R(n_o,\hbar)}{2n_o} + \mathcal{O}_{n_o}(1/n) . \quad (3.14)$$

We are now dealing with the partition $\mathcal{P}^{(n_o)}$, n_0 being fixed.

3.3.1 End of the proof

Let us take a subsequence of (ψ_{\hbar_k}) such that the Husimi measures $\mu_k = \mu_{\psi_{\hbar_k}}$ converge to a semiclassical measure μ on S^*X , invariant under the geodesic flow (see Prop. 2.1). We may take the limit $\hbar_k \to 0$ (so that $n \to \infty$) in the expression above. The norms appearing in the definition of $h_{\mathcal{P}(n_o)}(\psi_{\hbar_k})$ and $h_{\mathcal{T}(n_o)}(\psi_{\hbar_k})$ can be written as

$$\| \dot{P}_{\alpha} \psi_{\hbar_k} \| = \| \dot{P}_{\alpha_{n_o}}(n_o) \cdots \dot{P}_{\alpha_1}(1) \dot{P}_{\alpha_0} \psi_{\hbar_k} \|$$
(3.15)

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha}^{*}\psi_{\hbar_{k}}\| = \|\hat{P}_{\alpha_{0}}\hat{P}_{\alpha_{1}}(1)\cdots\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n_{o}}}(n_{o})\psi_{\hbar_{k}}\|.$$
(3.16)

For any sequence $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ of length n_o , the laws of pseudodifferential calculus imply the convergence of $\|\hat{P}^*_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\psi_{\hbar_k}\|^2$ and $\|\hat{P}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\psi_{\hbar_k}\|^2$ to the same quantity $\mu(\{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\})$, where $\{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\}$ is the function $(\mathbb{1}^{sm}_{P_{\alpha_0}})^2 (\mathbb{1}^{sm}_{P_{\alpha_1}})^2 \circ g^1 \dots (\mathbb{1}^{sm}_{P_{\alpha_{n_o-1}}})^2 \circ g^{n_o-1}$ on T^*X . Thus $h_{\mathcal{P}(n_o)}(\psi_{\hbar_k})$ and $h_{\mathcal{T}(n_o)}(\psi_{\hbar_k})$ both semiclassically converge to the classical entropy

$$h_{n_o}(\mu) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} h_{n_o}(\mu, (\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm2})) = -\sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=n_o} \mu(\{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\}) \log \mu(\{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\}) \,.$$

We have thus obtained the lower bound

$$\frac{h_{n_o}(\mu)}{n_o} \ge (d-1) - \frac{(d-1+2\delta)\lambda_{\max}}{2(1-\delta')} \,. \tag{3.17}$$

 δ and δ' could be taken arbitrarily small, and at this stage they can be let vanish. Remember also that $\lambda_{\max} = 1$.

The Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy of μ (with respect to the partition $X = \sqcup P_k$) is by definition the limit of the first term $\frac{h_{n_o}(\mu)}{n_o}$ when n_o goes to infinity

(2.10) (2.12), with the notable difference that the smooth functions $(\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm})^2$ should be replaced by the characteristic functions $(\mathbb{1}_{P_k})$. We note, however, that the lower bound (3.17) does not depend on the derivatives of $(\mathbb{1}_{P_k}^{sm})^2$: as a result, the same bound carries over to the characteristic functions $(\mathbb{1}_{P_k})$.

We can finally let n_o tend to $+\infty$, to obtain (2.7).

Chapter 4

WKB methods.

To prove our main estimate (Theorem 3.7), we need to describe the action of the operator $U^t = \exp(it\hbar\frac{\Delta}{2})$ on "rapidly oscillating" functions, in the limit $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$. The idea, already used by Schrödinger, is first to describe the action of $\exp(it\hbar\frac{\Delta}{2})$ on functions of the form $e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S(x)}$, called WKB functions or lagrangian functions; and then to use the fact that all the functions we consider are integral combinations of lagrangian functions.

4.1 Lagrangian submanifolds of T^*X and generating functions.

We have seen that T^*X is endowed with a "canonical" symplectic form ω , defined as follows. Let $\Omega \subset X$ be an open subset of X, endowed with a coordinate chart $\phi: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$. Then $T^*\Omega \subset T^*X$ can be endowed with the coordinate chart

$$\Phi: T^*\Omega \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^* \tag{4.1}$$

$$(x,p) \mapsto (\phi(x), (T\phi_x^*)^{-1}p).$$
 (4.2)

On $T^*\Omega$, ω is defined as the pullback by Φ of the symplectic form $\sum_{i=1}^d dq_i \wedge dp_i$ of $\mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$. We leave it to the reader to check that this definition does not depend on the choice of local coordinates. Thus, by choosing an atlas of X, one can define ω on T^*X , and the definition does not depend on the atlas. In fact, ω can also be defined in a intrinsic way by formula (1.5).

Definition 4.1. A lagrangian submanifold, in the 2d-dimensional symplectic manifold (T^*X, ω) , is a d-dimensional submanifold on which ω vanishes.

Equivalently, a submanifold \mathcal{L} is lagrangian if and only if, for all $z \in \mathcal{L}$, $T_z \mathcal{L}$ is its own ω -orthogonal in $T_z(T^*X)$.

Example 4.2. On $T^*\mathbb{R}^d = \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$ endowed with the symplectic form $\sum_{i=1}^d dq_i \wedge dp_i$, affine subspaces of the form $\mathbb{R}^d \times \{\xi_0\}$ or $\{x_0\} \times \mathbb{R}^d$ are

examples of lagrangian submanifolds. More generally, for any manifold X, the zero section $\{(x,0), x \in X\} \subset T^*X$ is a lagrangian submanifold of T^*X . For any $x \in X$, the fiber T_x^*X is also lagrangian.

Generating functions.

Exercise 4.3. In $\mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$ endowed with the symplectic form $\sum_{i=1}^d dq_i \wedge dp_i$, consider an linear subspace of the form $\operatorname{Graph} A = \{(x, Ax)\}$ where A is a linear operator from \mathbb{R}^d to itself. Show that $\operatorname{Graph} A$ is lagrangian if and only if A is symmetric for the canonical euclidean structure on \mathbb{R}^d : $\langle Ax, y \rangle = \langle x, Ay \rangle$. Of course, not all linear lagrangian subspaces of $\mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$ are of this form : for instance, $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^d$ is not a graph.

Exercise 4.4. Generalization : let X be a smooth manifold and consider T^*X endowed with its usual symplectic structure. Let $\Omega \subset X$ be an open subset of X, and let a be a smooth 1-form on Ω . Consider the graph $\operatorname{Graph} a = \{(x, a_x)\} \subset T^*\Omega$. Show that $\operatorname{Graph} a$ is lagrangian if and only if the 1-form a is closed : da = 0.

In particular, if Ω is simply connected, this implies the existence of a smooth function $S: \Omega \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ such that a = dS. The function S is called a generating function of the lagrangian manifold Graph a.

This gives us more examples of lagrangian submanifolds ! We denote $\pi : T^*X \longrightarrow X$ the canonical projection.

Definition 4.5. Let $\mathcal{L} \subset T^*X$ be a lagrangian submanifold. The caustic of \mathcal{L} is the set of points $z \in \mathcal{L}$ such that the restriction of π to \mathcal{L} is not a local diffeomorphism at z.

If z does not belong to the caustic, Exercise 4.4 shows there is a neighbourhood of z in \mathcal{L} which is the graph of the differential of a function S (defined up to an additive constant). We say S is a generating function of \mathcal{L} near z.

What happens on the caustic ?

Let $S(x,\theta)$ be a real-valued function on $\Omega_X \times \Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ where Ω_X is an open subset of X and $\Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ an open subset of \mathbb{R}^N . Let $C_S = \{(x,\theta), \frac{\partial S}{\partial \theta} = 0\}$. On C_S we assume that all the differentials $d_{(x,\theta)} \frac{\partial S}{\partial \theta_i}$ $(i = 1, \ldots, N)$ are linearly independent : then C_S is a smooth *d*-dimensional submanifold of $\Omega_X \times \Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ (recall $d = \dim X$). Define $j_S : C_S \longrightarrow T^*X$ by $j_S(x,\theta) = (x, \partial_x S(x,\theta))$.

Proposition 4.6. The map j_S is an immersion. Its image,

 $\mathcal{L}_S = \{(x,\xi) \in T^*X, \text{ there exists } \theta/\partial_\theta S(x,\theta) = 0 \text{ and } \xi = \partial_x S(x,\theta)\}$

is a lagrangian submanifold of T^*X .

One calls $S(., \theta)$ a generating family (or generating function) of \mathcal{L}_S . Compare with (1.24).

Theorem 4.7. Every lagrangian submanifold \mathcal{L} of T^*X admits, locally, a generating family. More precisely : for $z_0 \in \mathcal{L}$, let $N = \dim \operatorname{Ker} d\pi_{z_0}$. There is a neighbourhood Ω of z_0 in T^*X , an open subset Ω_X of X and an open subset $\Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ of \mathbb{R}^N , and finally a function $S : \Omega_X \times \Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ satisfying all the required conditions, such that

$$\mathcal{L} \cap \Omega = \mathcal{L}_S$$

Proof: Using (4.1) we see it is enough to consider the case $X = \mathbb{R}^d$. Let $z_0 = (x_0, \xi_0) \in T^* \mathbb{R}^d = \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$ and let $L = T_{z_0} \mathcal{L}$. It is a lagrangian linear subspace of $\mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$. Let $p : \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$ be the projection on the first coordinate. By assumption, F = p(L) is a linear subspace of \mathbb{R}^d of dimension d - N. Let G be a supplementary subspace of F in \mathbb{R}^d : $\mathbb{R}^d = F \oplus G$. We have a corresponding decomposition of the dual space, $\mathbb{R}^*_d = G^\circ \oplus F^\circ$, where F° is the space of linear forms vanishing on F, and similarly for G° . We leave it to the reader to check that the projection $P: L \longrightarrow F \times F^\circ$ is an isomorphism.

Since L is tangent to \mathcal{L} at z_0 , there is a neighbourhood Ω of z_0 such that $P : \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow F \times F^\circ$ is a diffeomorphism. In other words, there is a smooth map $\varphi : (F \times F^\circ) \cap \Omega \longrightarrow G \times G^\circ$ such that $\mathcal{L} \cap \Omega$ is the graph of φ . Writing $\varphi = (f, g)$ we have

$$\mathcal{L} \cap \Omega = \left\{ (x_F, f(x_F, \xi_{F^\circ}), g(x_F, \xi_{F^\circ}), \xi_{F^\circ}), x_F \in F, \xi_{F^\circ} \in F^\circ \right\}.$$

For \mathcal{L} to be lagrangian we must have $df \wedge d\xi_{F^{\circ}} + dx_F \wedge dg = 0$, in other words $d(fd\xi_{F^{\circ}} - gdx_F) = 0$. This means there exists, in a neighbourhood of z_0 , a function $S(x_F, \xi_{F^{\circ}})$ such that $dS = fd\xi_{F^{\circ}} - gdx_F$ (equivalently, $f = \partial_{\xi_{F^{\circ}}}S, g = -\partial_{x_F}S$). Consider the function

$$\mathfrak{S}(x_F, x_G, \xi_{F^\circ}) = \xi_{F^\circ} . x_G - S(x_F, \xi_{F^\circ})$$

defined on an open subset of $F \times G \times F^{\circ} = \mathbb{R}^d \times F^{\circ}$. It is now straightforward to check this is a generating function of $\mathcal{L} \cap \Omega$, and $\dim F^{\circ} = N$ as announced.

Example 4.8. Here is a fundamental example : in $T^*\mathbb{R}^d = \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$ endowed with the canonical symplectic form $\sum_{i=1}^d dq_i \wedge dp_i$, a generating function for $T^*_x\mathbb{R}^d = \{x\} \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^*$ is $S(y,\theta) = \sum_{i=1}^d \theta_i(y_i - x_i) = \langle \theta, y - x \rangle$ (here N = d and θ varies in \mathbb{R}^d).

Exercise 4.9. A crucial thing : (i) Show that a (connected) lagrangian submanifold \mathcal{L} is invariant under the hamiltonian flow of H if and only if it is contained in some fixed energy layer $\{H = E\}$.

(ii) As a particular case, deduce that if $H(x, d_x S(x, \theta)) = E$ for any (x, θ) , then the lagrangian manifold \mathcal{L}_S generated by S is invariant under the hamiltonian flow.

(iii) Assume now that S is a smooth function of (t, x, θ) , and assume that

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + H(x, d_x S) = 0$$

for all (t, x, θ) . Denote $S_t(x, \theta) = S(t, x, \theta)$. Show that the lagrangian manifold \mathcal{L}_{S_t} is the image of \mathcal{L}_{S_0} under g^t . Hint : reduce the problem to the previous one by considering the hamiltonian $\overline{H}(x, t, \xi, E) = H(x, \xi) + E$ on $T^*(X \times \mathbb{R})$.

4.2 Lagrangian distributions.

Let \mathcal{L} be a lagrangian submanifold of T^*X . For our applications we shall only be interested in the case where \mathcal{L} is relatively compact and where it has a global generating function $S : \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_S$, S being defined on $\Omega_X \times \Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N}$. In this case we define the notion of a lagrangian function associated to \mathcal{L} as follows :

Definition 4.10. We denote $O^m(X, \mathcal{L}_S)$ the space of functions of the form

$$u_{\hbar}(x) = \frac{e^{i\alpha(\hbar)}}{(2\pi\hbar)^{N/2}} \int_{\Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N}} e^{i\frac{S(x,\theta)}{\hbar}} a_{\hbar}(x,\theta) d\theta$$

where

 $-\alpha(\hbar)$ is a real number depending on \hbar ,

- the function a defined on $\Omega_X \times \Omega_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ is smooth and has an asymptotic development when $\hbar \longrightarrow 0$,

$$a \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \hbar^{j+m} a_{j+m},$$

the asymptotic development holds in all C^k -norms on compact subsets,

- we assume that a is compactly supported with respect to the variable θ .

As usual, the class $O^m(X, \mathcal{L}_S)$ should actually be defined *modulo negli*gible functions, which, we recall, are smooth functions u_{\hbar} for which all the C^k -norms on compact sets are $O(\hbar^{\infty})$. Then, one can prove [GS94] that the definition of $O^m(X, \mathcal{L}_S)$ does not depend on the choice of the generating function S:

Theorem 4.11. If $\mathcal{L}_S = \mathcal{L}_{S'}$ then $O^m(X, \mathcal{L}_S) = O^m(X, \mathcal{L}_{S'})$.

Example 4.12. On $X = \mathbb{R}^d$, the Dirac mass at x

$$\delta_x(y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\frac{\langle \xi, y-x \rangle}{\hbar}} d\xi$$

can be seen as a lagrangian distribution associated with the lagrangian submanifold $T_x^* \mathbb{R}^d$ ($S(y,\xi) = \langle \xi, y - x \rangle$), but note that the symbol $a(y,\xi) \equiv 1$ is not compactly supported. Let $\chi(y,\xi)$ be a smooth, positive, compactly supported function, call Ω a bounded open set containing the support of χ . Then the function

$$\delta^{\chi}_{x}(y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{d}} \int e^{\frac{\langle \xi, y-x \rangle}{\hbar}} \chi(y,\xi) d\xi$$

falls into the class $O^{-d/2}(\mathbb{R}^d, T^*_x\mathbb{R}^d\cap\Omega)$. Assume χ takes the constant value 1 in a neighbourhood of a certain compact subset $\mathcal{E} \subset T^*\mathbb{R}^d$. Then δ^{χ}_x is often called a "delta-function truncated away from \mathcal{E} ": it is a Dirac mass whose frequencies near \mathcal{E} have not been touched, while the frequencies out of Ω have been removed.

4.3 WKB description of the operator $U^t = \exp(it\hbar\frac{\Delta}{2})$.

Remark 4.13. The initials WKB stand for Wentzel, Kramers and Brillouin, who independently proposed this method to find approximate solutions of a 1-d stationary Schrödinger equation — in other words, to find approximate eigenfunctions [Wtz26, Kr26, Brill26]. The method was later generalized by Keller and Maslov to higher dimension, but it only works for completely integrable systems [Kell58, Masl65].

Here we present the WKB method applied to the evolutive Schrödinger equation. It was first used by Van Vleck [VV28].

Consider an initial state u(0) of the form $u(0,x) = a_{\hbar}(0,x) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S(0,x)}$, where $S(0,\bullet)$, $a_{\hbar}(0,\bullet)$ are smooth functions defined on a subset of $\Omega \subset X$, a_{\hbar} has a fixed compact support in Ω and has an asymptotic development $a_{\hbar} \sim \sum_{k} \hbar^{k} a_{k}$, valid in all C^{n} -norms. This represents a WKB (or Lagrangian) state, supported on the Lagrangian manifold $\mathcal{L}(0) = \{(x, d_{x}S(0, x)), x \in \Omega\}$.

The WKB method consists in looking for an approximate expression¹ for the state $\tilde{u}(t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} U^t u(0)$, in the form

$$u(t,x) = e^{\frac{iS(t,x)}{\hbar}} a_{\hbar}(t,x) = e^{\frac{iS(t,x)}{\hbar}} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \hbar^k a_k(t,x)$$
(4.3)

where N is a fixed, arbitrarily large integer. We want u(t) to solve $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = i\hbar \frac{\Delta_x u}{2}$ up to a remainder of order \hbar^N . Computing explicitly both sides of the equation, and identifying the successive powers of \hbar , we see that the

¹often called an Ansatz

functions S and a_k must satisfy the following partial differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + H(x, d_x S) = 0 & (\text{Hamilton-Jacobi equation}) \\\\ \frac{\partial a_0}{\partial t} = -\langle d_x a_0, d_x S(t, x) \rangle - a_0 \frac{\triangle_x S(t, x)}{2} & (0\text{-th transport equation}) , \\\\ \frac{\partial a_k}{\partial t} = \frac{i \triangle a_{k-1}}{2} - \langle da_k, dS \rangle - a_k \frac{\triangle S}{2} & (k\text{-th transport equation}) . \end{cases}$$

$$(4.4)$$

Assume that, on a certain time interval — say $s \in [0,1]$ — the above equations have a well defined smooth solution S(s,x), meaning that the transported Lagrangian manifold $\mathcal{L}(s) = \phi_H^s \mathcal{L}(0)$ is of the form $\mathcal{L}(s) = \{(x, d_x S(s, x))\}$, where S(s) is a smooth function on the open set $\pi \mathcal{L}(s)$. Under these conditions, we denote as follows the induced flow on X:

$$G_s^t : x \in \pi \mathcal{L}(s) \mapsto \pi g^{t-s} \big(x, d_x S(s, x) \big) \in \pi \mathcal{L}(t) , \qquad (4.5)$$

In the first chapter we introduced the *exponential map* associated to \mathcal{L}_s : we have $G_s^t = \exp_{\mathcal{L}_s}^{t-s} \circ \pi^{-1}$. Note that $G_s^s = I$ and that the following composition rule holds: $G_{t_1}^{t_2} \circ G_{t_0}^{t_1} = G_{t_0}^{t_2}$.

We then introduce the following (unitary) operator T_s^t , which transports functions on $\pi \mathcal{L}(s)$ into functions on $\pi \mathcal{L}(t)$:

$$T_s^t(a)(x) = a \circ G_t^s(x) \ J_t^s(x)^{1/2} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Here $J_t^s(x)$ is the Jacobian of the map G_t^s at the point x (measured with respect to the Riemannian volume on X). It is given by

$$J_s^t(x) = \exp\left\{\int_s^t \Delta S(\tau, G_s^\tau(x)) \, d\tau\right\}.$$
(4.7)

We leave it as an exercise to check this formula, and to deduce that the 0-th transport equation in (4.4) is explicitly solved by

$$a_0(t) = T_0^t a_0, \quad t \in [0, 1].$$
 (4.8)

The higher-order terms $k \ge 1$ are given by

$$a_k(t) = T_0^t a_k + \int_0^t T_s^t \left(\frac{i \bigtriangleup a_{k-1}}{2}(s)\right) ds \,. \tag{4.9}$$

The function u(t, x) defined by (4.3) satisfies the approximate equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = i\hbar \frac{\Delta u}{2} - i\hbar^N e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S(t,x)} \frac{\Delta a_{N-1}}{2}(t,x) \,.$$

From Duhamel's principle and the unitarity of U^t , the difference between u(t) and the exact solution $\tilde{u}(t)$ is bounded, for $t \in [0, 1]$, by

$$\|u(t) - \tilde{u}(t)\|_{L^2} \le \frac{\hbar^N}{2} \int_0^t \|\triangle a_{N-1}(s)\|_{L^2} \, ds \le C \, t \, \hbar^N \Big(\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \|a_k(0)\|_{C^{2(N-k)}} \Big) \,.$$
(4.10)

The constant C is controlled by the volumes of the sets $\pi \mathcal{L}(s)$ $(0 \le s \le t \le 1)$, and by a certain number of derivatives of the flow G_t^s $(0 \le s \le t \le 1)$.

Remark 4.14. Elaborating on these methods, one proves the following : if u is a lagrangian state in $O^m(X, \mathcal{L})$, then $U^t u$ is a lagrangian state in $O^m(X, g^t \mathcal{L})$. We have proved it in the particular case when $g^t \mathcal{L}$ is a graph over X for all t. The operator U^t is called a Fourier Integral Operator associated with the transformation g^t .

This is the property Schrödinger had looked for when introducing his equation. We have, in addition, found the explicit formula for all the $a_k(t)$. For k = 0, equation (4.8) is called the Van Vleck formula.

Exercise 4.15. Check the equations (4.4), and note they also hold in the presence of a potential V.

4.4 Proof of the main estimate.

4.4.1 Decomposition of $Op(\chi)u$ into truncated delta-functions.

We prove Theorem 3.7 about the norm of the operator

$$\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}(n)\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}(n-1)...\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\operatorname{Op}(\chi) = U^{-n}\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}...U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\operatorname{Op}(\chi)$$

(where we denote $U^t = \exp(ith\frac{\Delta}{2})$ and $U = U^1$). Since U^t is unitary, the norm of this operator is also the same as the norm of $\hat{P}_{\alpha_n} U \hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}} ... U \hat{P}_{\alpha_0} \operatorname{Op}(\chi)$.

The pseudo-differential operator $Op(\chi)$ is defined in §1.4.3 :

$$\operatorname{Op}(\chi) = \sum_{l} \varphi_{l} \operatorname{OP}(\chi) \varphi_{l}$$

where (φ_l) is an auxiliary partition of unity on X $(\sum_l \varphi_l(x)^2 \equiv 1)$ such that the support of each φ_l is endowed with local coordinates in \mathbb{R}^d . In local coordinates in the support of φ_l , $OP(\chi)$ is then defined by the usual formula,

$$OP(\chi)u(x) = (2\pi\hbar)^{-d} \int u(z)e^{i\frac{\langle\xi,x-z\rangle}{\hbar}}\chi(z,\xi)dzd\xi.$$
(4.11)

The function χ will be chosen of the form $\chi(z,\xi) = \chi_1(|\xi|_z)$ where χ_1 is a smooth function on \mathbb{R}_+ supported in $[1 - \varepsilon/2, 1 + \varepsilon/2]$ with $\chi_1 \equiv 1$ in a neighbourhood of 1. For $x \in \Omega_{\alpha_0}$, we can write

$$Op(\chi)u(x) = \sum_{l} \int u(z)\delta_{z}^{l}(x)dz, \qquad (4.12)$$

where we denote δ_z^l the truncated δ -function

$$\delta_z^l(x) = \varphi_l(x)\varphi_l(z) \int e^{\frac{i\langle\xi, x-z\rangle}{\hbar}} \chi(z,\xi) \frac{d\xi}{(2\pi\hbar)^d}.$$
(4.13)

Each δ_z^l is a lagrangian state associated with the lagrangian manifold $T_z^*X \cap H^{-1}\left(\left(\frac{1}{2}-\varepsilon,\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon\right)\right)$. Equation (4.12) means that every state in the image of $\operatorname{Op}(\chi)$ can be decomposed as an integral combination of the lagrangian states δ_z^l . If we can estimate the norm of $\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}...U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_z^l$ for any z, we can use (4.12) to estimate the norm of $\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}...U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\operatorname{Op}(\chi)u$ for arbitrary u, by writing

$$\begin{split} \|\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}...U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\operatorname{Op}(\chi)u\| &\leq \sum_{l}\sup_{z}\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}...U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_{z}^{l}\|\int_{X}|u(y)|dy\\ &\leq \sum_{l}\sup_{z}\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}...U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_{z}^{l}\|\sqrt{\operatorname{Vol} X}\|u\|_{L^{2}(X)} \end{split}$$

The estimates will be done by induction on n: we will propose an Ansatz – that is, an approximate expression – for $\hat{P}_{\alpha_n} U \hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}} ... U \hat{P}_{\alpha_0} \delta_z^l$, valid for "large" n. In what follows we omit the l superscript and just consider δ_z .

4.4.2 The Ansatz for n = 1.

At n = 0 we know that $\hat{P}_{\alpha_0} \delta_z(x)$ is a lagrangian state associated with the lagrangian manifold $\mathcal{L}^0 = T_z^* X \cap H^{-1}\left(\left(\frac{1}{2} - \varepsilon, \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon\right)\right)$, a union of spheres $H^{-1}(\frac{1}{2} + \eta) \cap T_z^* X$.

From Remark 4.14, we know that $U^t \hat{P}_{\alpha_0} \delta_z$ is a lagrangian state associated to

$$\mathcal{L}^{0}(t) = g^{t}\left(T_{z}^{*}X \cap H^{-1}\left(\left(\frac{1}{2} - \varepsilon, \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon\right)\right)\right).$$

If we assume that the injectivity radius of X is greater than $1+100\varepsilon$, then this is a graph over X for $0 < t < 1+\varepsilon$. This is just saying that the exponential map \exp_z^t is a diffeormorphism from $T_z^*X \cap H^{-1}\left(\left(\frac{1}{2}-\varepsilon,\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon\right)\right)$ onto its image, for $0 < t < 1+\varepsilon$.

This means we have an Ansatz

$$U^{t}\hat{P}_{\alpha_{0}}\delta_{z} \sim (2\pi\hbar)^{-d/2} e^{\frac{iS^{0}(t,x|z)}{\hbar}} \big(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \hbar^{k} b_{k}^{0}(t,x|z)\big).$$
(4.14)

The function $S^0(t, x)$ is a generating function of the lagrangian manifold $\mathcal{L}^0(t)$.

Taking t = 1, we denote

$$v^{0}(1;x|z) = e^{\frac{iS^{0}(t,x|z)}{\hbar}}b^{0}_{\hbar}(1,x|z), \qquad (4.15)$$

$$b_{\hbar}^{0}(1,x|z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \hbar^{k} b_{k}^{0}(1,x|z) \right)$$
(4.16)

It gives us an approximation to $U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_z$, the difference being bounded in L^2 -norm by $O(\hbar^{N-\frac{d}{2}})$.

4.4.3 Iteration of the WKB Ansätze

In this section we will obtain an approximate Ansatz for $\hat{P}_{\alpha_n} \dots U\hat{P}_{\alpha_1}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_z$. Above we have already performed the first step, obtaining an approximation $v^0(1|z)$ of $U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_z$. Until Lemma 4.16 we will fix the base point z, and omit it in our notations when no confusion may arise; at the end we will obtain an estimate which is uniform in z.

Applying the multiplication operator \hat{P}_{α_1} to the state $v^0(1) := v^0(1|z)$, we obtain another WKB state which we denote as follows:

$$v^{1}(0,x) = b^{1}_{\hbar}(0,x) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S^{1}(0,x)}, \quad \text{with} \quad \begin{cases} S^{1}(0,x) := S^{0}(1,x|z), \\ b^{1}_{\hbar}(0,x) := \hat{P}_{\alpha_{1}}(x) b^{0}_{\hbar}(1,x|z). \end{cases}$$

This state is associated with the lagrangian manifold

$$\mathcal{L}^1(0) = \mathcal{L}^0(1) \cap T^*\Omega_{\alpha_1}.$$

If this intersection is empty, then $v^1(0) = 0$, which means that $\hat{P}_{\alpha_1} U v(0|z) = \mathcal{O}(\hbar^N)$ in L^2 norm. In the opposite case, we can evolve $v^1(0)$ following the procedure described in §4.3. For $t \in [0, 1]$, and up to an error $\mathcal{O}_{L^2}(\hbar^N)$, the evolved state $U^t v^1(0)$ is given by the WKB Ansatz

$$v^{1}(t,x) = b^{1}_{\hbar}(t,x) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S^{1}(t,x)}, \qquad b^{1}_{\hbar}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} b^{1}_{k}(t).$$

The state $v^1(t)$ is associated with the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}^1(t) = g^t \mathcal{L}^1(0)$, and the function $b_h^1(t)$ is supported inside $\pi \mathcal{L}^1(t)$.

Evolved Lagrangians

We can iterate this procedure, obtaining a sequence of approximations

$$v^{j}(t) = U^{t} \hat{P}_{\alpha_{j}} v^{j-1}(1) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{N}), \quad \text{where} \quad v^{j}(t,x) = v^{j}(t,x|z) = b^{j}_{\hbar}(t,x|z) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S^{j}(t,x|z)}.$$
(4.17)

(Again, z is fixed for the moment, and we will not always indicate in the notations the z-dependence). To show that this procedure is consistent, we must check that the Lagrangian manifold $\mathcal{L}^{j}(t)$ supporting $v^{j}(t)$ does not develop caustics through the evolution $(t \in [0, 1])$, and that the projection $\pi : \mathcal{L}^{j}(t) \to X$ remains injective. These were the conditions required to apply the WKB method.

We now show that these properties hold, due to the assumptions on the classical flow.

The manifolds $\mathcal{L}^{j}(t)$ are obtained by the following procedure. Knowing $\mathcal{L}^{j-1}(1)$, which is generated by the phase function $S^{j-1}(1)$, we take for $\mathcal{L}^{j}(0)$ the intersection

$$\mathcal{L}^{j}(0) = \mathcal{L}^{j-1}(1) \cap T^* \Omega_{\alpha_j}.$$

If this set is empty, we then stop the construction. Otherwise, this Lagrangian is evolved into $\mathcal{L}^{j}(t) = g^{t}\mathcal{L}^{j}(0)$ for $t \in [0, 1]$. Notice that the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}^{j}(t)$ corresponds to evolution at time j + t of a piece of $\mathcal{L}^{0}(0)$: it is made up of the image under the geodesic flow of a compact piece of the fiber $T_{z}^{*}X$. If the geodesic flow is Anosov, the geodesic flow has no conjugate points — by a result of Klingenberg [Kl74]. This means precisely that $g^{t}\mathcal{L}^{0}(0)$ will not develop caustics.

Because the injectivity radius is $\geq 1 + 100\varepsilon$, any point $x \in \Omega_{\alpha_j}$ can be connected to another point $x' \in X$ by at most one geodesic of length $\leq 1 + \varepsilon$. This ensures that, for any $j \geq 1$, $0 \leq t \leq 1$, the manifold $\mathcal{L}^j(t)$ projects injectively to $\pi \mathcal{L}^j$.

Finally, we recall that $\mathcal{L}^0(0)$ was obtained by propagating a piece of $T_z^*X \cap H^{-1}(\frac{1}{2} - \varepsilon, \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon)$. Since the geodesic flow on each energy layer $H^{-1}(1/2 + \eta)$ is Anosov, the sphere bundle $H^{-1}(1/2 + \eta) \cap T_z^*X$ is uniformly transverse to the strong stable foliation in $H^{-1}(1/2 + \eta)$ — also a result of [Kl74].

As a result, under the geodesic flow a piece of sphere $H^{-1}(1/2+\eta) \cap T_z^* X$ becomes exponentially close to an unstable leaf of $H^{-1}(1/2+\eta)$ when $t \to +\infty$. This transversality of spheres with the stable foliation is crucial in our choice of the "basis" δ_z .

Exponential decay.

We now analyze the behaviour of the symbols $b_{\hbar}^{j}(t,x)$ appearing in (4.17), when $j \to \infty$. These symbols are constructed iteratively: starting from the function $b_{\hbar}^{j-1}(1) = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} b_{k}^{j-1}(1)$ supported inside $\pi \mathcal{L}^{j-1}(0)$, we define

$$b_{\hbar}^{j}(0,x) = \hat{P}_{\alpha_{j}}(x) \, b_{\hbar}^{j-1}(1,x) \,, \qquad x \in \pi \mathcal{L}^{j}(0) \,. \tag{4.18}$$

The WKB procedure of §4.3 shows that for any $t \in [0, 1]$,

$$U^{t} v^{j}(0) = v^{j}(t) + R^{j}_{N}(t), \qquad (4.19)$$

where the transported symbol $b_{\hbar}^{j-1}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \hbar^k b_k^{j-1}(t)$ is supported inside $\pi \mathcal{L}^j(t)$. The remainder satisfies

$$\|R_N^j(t)\| \le C t \,\hbar^N \big(\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \|b_k^j(0)\|_{C^{2(N-k)}}\big) \,. \tag{4.20}$$

To control this remainder when $j \to \infty$, we need to bound from above the derivatives of b_{\hbar}^{j} . Lemma 4.16 below shows that all terms $b_{k}^{j}(t)$ and their derivatives decay exponentially when $j \to \infty$, due to the Jacobian appearing in (4.6).

To understand the reasons of the decay, we first look at the principal symbol $b_0^j(1,x)$. It satisfies the following recurrence:

$$b_0^j(1,x) = T_j^{j+1}(\hat{P}_{\alpha_j} \times b_0^{j-1}(1))(x) = (\hat{P}_{\alpha_j} \times b_0^{j-1}(1)) \circ G_{j+1}^j(x) \sqrt{J_{j+1}^j(x)};$$
(4.21)

using similar notations as above, the transport map $G_{s,t}$ is defined, for $j \leq s, t \leq j+1$, by $G_{s,t} := \exp_{\mathcal{L}^j(s-j)}^{t-s} \circ \pi^{-1}$, and maps $\pi \mathcal{L}^j(s-j)$ to $\pi \mathcal{L}^j$ (t-j). We denote J_s^t the jacobian of G_s^t . We recall that $G_{n-1}^n G_{n-2}^{n-1} \dots G_1^2 =$ G_1^n , where both sides are defined.

Iterating this expression, and using the fact that $0 \leq \hat{P}_{\alpha_i} \leq 1$, we get at time n and for any $x \in \pi \mathcal{L}^n(0)$:

$$|b_0^n(0,x)| \le |b_0^0(1,G_n^1(x))| \times \left(J_n^{n-1}(x)J_{n-1}^{n-2}(G_n^{n-1}x)\dots J_2^1(G_3^2(x))\right)^{1/2}.$$
(4.22)

By the chain rule, this product of jacobians is simply $J_n^1(x)^{1/2} = J_1^n(G_n^1(x))^{-1/2}$. Recall that $\mathcal{L}^0(0)$ intersected with each energy layer $S^{1+\eta}X := \{\xi \in T^*X, \|\xi\| = 1 + \eta\}$ is just a piece of the sphere $S_z^{1+\eta}X$. Thus, if $d(x, z) = I^*X$. $1 + \eta$, the jacobian $J_1^n(G_n^1(x))$ measures the expansion rate of the sphere $g^n(S_z^{1+\eta}X)$: in dimension d and curvature $\equiv -1$, it grows asymptotically like $e^{(d-1)(1+\eta)n}$ when $n \to \infty$. If $x \in \pi \mathcal{L}^1(0)$ (and if this last set is nonempty) we have $d(x,z) \leq 1 + \varepsilon$ (because $\mathcal{L}^0(0)$ is contained in $H^{-1}(\frac{1}{2} - \varepsilon, \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon)$ ε)). We obtain the following estimate on the principal symbol $b_0^n(0)$:

$$\forall n \ge 1 \quad \|b_0^n(0)\|_{\infty} \le \|b_0^0(1)\|_{\infty} \left[\exp(-n(d-1-\varepsilon))\right]^{1/2} \tag{4.23}$$

The following lemma, which we shall not prove here, shows that the upper bound extends to the full symbol $b^n_{\hbar}(0, x)$ and its derivatives.

Lemma 4.16. Take any index $0 \le k \le N$ and $m \le 2(N-k)$. Then there exists a constant C(k,m) such that

$$\forall n \ge 1, \ \forall x \in \pi \mathcal{L}^n(0), \qquad |d^m b_k^n(0, x|z)| \le C(k, m) n^{m+3k} \left[\exp(-n(d-1-\varepsilon))\right]^{1/2}$$
(4.24)

This bound is uniform with respect to the initial point z. For $(k,m) \neq (0,0)$, the constant C(k,m) depends on the partition $\mathcal{P}^{(0)}$, while C(0,0) does not.

Taking into account the fact that the remainders $R_N^j(1)$ are dominated by the derivatives of the b_k^j (see (4.20)), the above statement translates into

$$\forall j \ge 1, \qquad \|R_N^j(1)\|_{L^2} \le C(N) \, j^{3N} \, [\exp(-n(d-1-\varepsilon))]^{1/2} \, \hbar^N \, .$$

A crucial fact for us is that the above bound also holds for the propagated remainder $\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\cdots U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{j+1}}R_N^j(1)$, due to the fact that the operators $\hat{P}_{\alpha_j}U$ have norms less than 1. As a result, the total error at time n is bounded

from above by the sum of the errors $||R_N^j(1)||$. We obtain the following estimate for any n > 0:

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}\cdots\hat{P}_{\alpha_1}v^0(1|z)-v^n(0|z)\| \le C(N)\,\hbar^N\,\sum_{j=0}^n j^{3N}\,[\exp(-n(d-1-\varepsilon))]^{1/2}$$
(4.25)

The last term is bounded by $C(N)\hbar^N$. This bound is uniform with respect to the initial point z.

4.4.4 Conclusion.

From (4.25), to estimate the norm of the vector $\hat{P}_{\alpha_n} U \hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}} \cdots \hat{P}_{\alpha_1} v^0(1|z)$ up to $O(\hbar^N)$, we can use our Ansatz $v^n(0|z)$. From (4.24) and the definition (4.17) of $v^n(0|z)$, we see that

$$\|v^{n}(0|z)\|_{L^{2}(X)} \leq [\exp(-n(d-1-\varepsilon))]^{1/2} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} C(k,0)\hbar^{k} n^{3k}.$$
(4.26)

As required in Theorem 3.7, let us now take an arbitrary large \mathcal{K} , and $n = \mathcal{K}|\log \hbar|$. In the inequalities (4.23) and (4.26), the right hand term is bounded *below* by a fixed power of \hbar (more precisely, $\hbar^{-\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{K}(d-1-\varepsilon)}$). Thus, we will choose N, the order of our WKB expansion, so that the remainder (4.25) is negligible compared to $\hbar^{-\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{K}(d-1-\varepsilon)}$.

Now, remember the relation (4.14) between $v^0(1|z)$ and $U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_z$: note in particular the normalization factor $(2\pi\hbar)^{-d/2}$. The combination of (4.25) and (4.26) gives us

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_n}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}}\cdots\hat{P}_{\alpha_1}U\hat{P}_{\alpha_0}\delta_z\|_{L^2(X)} \le \frac{2}{(2\pi\hbar)^{d/2}}[\exp(-n(d-1-\varepsilon))]^{1/2}$$
(4.27)

for $n = \mathcal{K} |\log \hbar|$ and $\hbar \leq \hbar_{\mathcal{K}}$.

Combined with (4.12) and the subsequent discussion, we find

$$\|\hat{P}_{\alpha_n} U \hat{P}_{\alpha_{n-1}} \dots U \hat{P}_{\alpha_0} \operatorname{Op}(\chi) u\| \le \frac{2l\sqrt{\operatorname{Vol} X}}{(2\pi\hbar)^{d/2}} \|u\|_{L^2(X)} [\exp(-n(d-1-\varepsilon))]^{1/2}$$

which is the announced result.

Bibliography

- [AF94] R. Alicki, M. Fannes, *Defining quantum dynamical entropy*, Lett. Math. Phys. **32** no. 1, 75–82 (1994).
- [A05] N. Anantharaman, Entropy and the localization of eigenfunctions, à paraître dans Ann. Math.
- [AN06] N. Anantharaman, S. Nonnenmacher, *Semi-classical entropy of the Walsh-quantized baker's map*, à paraître dans Ann. I.H.P.
- [AN07] N. Anantharaman, S. Nonnenmacher, Half-delocalization of eigenfunctions of the laplacian on an Anosov manifold, prépublication.
- [Bera77] P. Bérard, On the wave equation on a compact Riemannian manifold without conjugate points. Math. Z. 155 no. 3, 249– 276 (1977).
- [Berr77] M.V. Berry, Regular and irregular semiclassical wave functions, J.Phys. A 10, 2083-2091 (1977).
- [Bo91] O. Bohigas, Random matrix theory and chaotic dynamics, in M.J. Giannoni, A. Voros and J. Zinn-Justin eds., Chaos et physique quantique, (École d'été des Houches, Session LII, 1989), North Holland, 1991.
- [BDB03] F. Bonechi, S. De Bièvre, Controlling strong scarring for quantized ergodic toral automorphisms, Duke Math. J. 117 no. 3, 571–587 (2003).
- [BHJ25-I] M. Born, W. Heisenberg, P. Jordan, Zur Quantenmechanik, Zeitschrift f. Physik 34, 858–888 (1925).
- [BHJ25-II] M. Born, W. Heisenberg, P. Jordan, Zur Quantenmechanik II, Zeitschrift f. Physik **35**, 557–615 (1925).
- [BLi03] J. Bourgain, E. Lindenstrauss, *Entropy of quantum limits*. Comm. Math. Phys. **233** no. 1, 153–171 (2003).

- [Brill26] L. Brillouin, La mécanique ondulatoire de Schrödinger; une méthode générale de résolution par approximations successives, C. R. A. S. 183, 24–26 (1926).
- [Broglie24] L. de Broglie, Annales de Physique (10) **3** 1925, p. 22 (Thèse, 1924).
- [CdV85] Y. Colin de Verdière, Ergodicité et fonctions propres du laplacien, Comm. Math. Phys 102 no. 3, 497–502 (1985).
- [CNT87] A. Connes, H. Narnhofer, W. Thirring, Dynamical entropy of C^{*} algebras and von Neumann algebras, Comm. Math. Phys. 112 no. 4, 691–719 (1987).
- [DimSjo] M. Dimassi, J. Sjöstrand, Spectral asymptotics in the semiclassical limit. London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Series 268, Cambridge University Press (1999).
- [Dirac33] P. A. M Dirac, The principles of quantum mechanics, The Clarendon Press, Oxford (1935), second edition; also, Physik. Zeits. Sowjetunion 3, 64 (1933).
- [DH72] J.J. Duistermaat, L. Hörmander, Fourier integral operators. II, Acta Math. 128 no. 3-4, 183–269 (1972).
- [DunSchw] N. Dunford and J.T. Schwartz, *Linear Operators, Part I*, Interscience, New York, 1958.
- [Ein17] A. Einstein, Zum Quantensatz von Sommerfeld und Epstein, Verhandl. deut. physik. Ges. (1917).
- [E1744] L. Euler, De Motu Projectorum in medio non resistente, per methodum maximorum ac minimorum determinando, Opera Omnia, Seria Prima Vol. XXIV Bernae 1952, Additamentum II 298–308 (1744).
- [FNDB03] F. Faure, N, Nonnenmacher, S. De Bièvre, Scarred eigenstates for quantum cat maps of minimal periods, Comm. Math. Phys. 239 no. 3, 449–492, (2003).
- [FN04] F. Faure, N, Nonnenmacher, On the maximal scarring for quantum cat map eigenstates, Comm. Math. Phys. 245 no. 1, 201–214 (2004).
- [Foll] G. B. Folland, Harmonic analysis in phase space, Princeton University Press 1989.

- [GL93] P. Gérard and E. Leichtnam, Ergodic properties of eigenfunctions for the Dirichlet problem, Duke Math. J. **71**(2), 559–607 (1993).
- [GS94] A. Grigis, A. and J. Sjöstrand, Microlocal Analysis for differential Operators: an Introduction. London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes, 1994.
- [Gutz] M. C. Gutzwiller, *Chaos in classical and quantum mechanics*, Springer-Verlag New York, 1990.
- [H1830] W. R. Hamilton, Theory of Systems of Rays, Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy Vol. XV, 69–174 (1828). Supplement Vol. XVI Part I, 4–62 (1830). Second Supplement Vol. XVI Part II, 93–125 (1831).
- [H1834] W. R. Hamilton, On a General Method in Dynamics; by which the Study of the Motions of all free Systems of attracting or repelling Points is reduced to the Search and Differentiation of one central Relation, or characteristic Function, Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London, 247–308 (1834).
- [H25] W. Heisenberg, Uber quantentheoretische Umdeutung kinematischer und mechanischer Beziehungen, Zeitschrift f. Physik 33, 879–893 (1925).
- [Helffer1] B. Helffer, 30 ans d'analyse semi-classique : bibliographie commentée, notes disponibles sur la page personnelle de Bernard Helffer.
- [Helffer2] B. Helffer, On h-pseudodifferential operators and applications, à paraître dans Encyclopedia of Mathematical Physics.
- [HelMR87] B. Helffer, A. Martinez, D. Robert Ergodicité et limite semiclassique, Comm. Math. Phys. 109 no. 2, 313–326 (1987).
- [Hell89] E. J. Heller, in: Chaos and Quantum Physics, Les Houches 1989. Ed. M.J. Giannoni, A. Voros, J. Zinn-Justin, Amsterdam, North-Holland 549–661 (1991).
- [HisSig] P. D. Hislop, I. M. Sigal, Introduction to spectral theory. With application to Schrödinger operators. Applied Mathematical Science 113, Springer Verlag New York, 1996.
- [Ho71] L. Hörmander, Fourier integral operators. I, Acta Math. 127 no. 1-2, 79–183 (1971).
- [Ho79] L. Hörmander, The Weyl Calculus of pseudodifferential operators, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 32, p. 359-443 (1979).

- [Ho] L. Hörmander, *The Analysis of linear Partial Differential Operators.* Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer Verlag (1984).
- [KH] A.B. Katok, B. Hasselblatt, Introduction to the modern theory of dynamical systems, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its applications 54. Cambridge University Press 1995.
- [Kell58] J. B. Keller, Corrected Bohr-Sommerfeld Quantum conditions for Nonseparable Systems, Ann. Physics 4, 180–188 (1958).
- [Kelm05] D. Kelmer, Arithmetic quantum unique ergodicity for symplectic linear maps of the multidimensional torus, prépublication 2005.
- [Kl74] W.P.A. Klingenberg, *Riemannian manifolds with geodesic flows of Anosov type*, Ann. of Math. (2) **99**, 1–13 (1974)
- [Kr26] H. A. Kramers, Wellenmechanik und halbzahlige quantisierung, Zeitschrift f. Physik 39, 828–840 (1926).
- [Kraus87] K. Kraus, Complementary observables and uncertainty relations, Phys. Rev. D 35, 3070–3075 (1987).
- [KurRud00] P. Kurlberg and Z. Rudnick, Hecke theory and equidistribution for the quantization of linear maps of the torus, Duke Math. J. 103, 47–77 (2000).
- [L1788] J.-L. Lagrange, Mécanique analytique éd. A. Blanchard, Paris 1965 (1788).
- [LY85] F. Ledrappier, L.-S. Young, The metric entropy of diffeomorphisms. I. Characterization of measures satisfying Pesin's entropy formula, Ann. of Math. (2) **122** no. 3, 509–539 (1985).
- [Leray] J. Leray, Lagrangian analysis and quantum mechanics. A mathematical structure related to asymptotic expansions and the Maslov index. English transl. by Carolyn Schroeder. Cambridge, Massachusetts; London: The MIT Press (1981).
- [Li06] E. Lindenstrauss, *Invariant measures and arithmetic quantum unique ergodicity*, Ann. of. Math. (2) **163** no. 1, 165–219 (2006).
- [MaaUff88] H. Maassen and J. B. M. Uffink, Generalized entropic uncertainty relations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60, 1103–1106 (1988).

- [Masl65] V. P. Maslov, *Théorie des perturbations et méthodes asymptotiques*, suivi de deux notes complémentaires de V. I. Arnol'd et V. C. Bouslaev, préface de J. Leray, Dunod Paris (1965).
- [M1744] P. L. Moreau de Maupertuis, Histoire de l'Académie Royale des Sciences MDCCXLVIII, Paris, Imprimerie Royale, 417–426 (1744).
- [Rob] D. Robert, Autour de l'approximation semi-classique. Progress in Mathematics no. 68, Birkhäuser (1987).
- [RudSa94] Z. Rudnick, P. Sarnak, The behaviour of eigenstates of arithmetic hyperbolic manifolds, Comm. Math. Phys 161 no. 1, 195– 213 (1994).
- [Sa95] P. Sarnak, Arithmetic quantum chaos, The Schur lectures (1992) (Tel Aviv), 183–236, Israel Math. Conf. Proc., 8, Bar-Ilan Univ., Ramat Gan, 1995.
- [Sa03] P. Sarnak, Spectra of hyperbolic surfaces, Bull. A.M.S. 40 no. 4, 441–478 (2003).
- [Sn74] A. I. Snirelman, Ergodic properties of eigenfunctions (Russe), Uspehi Mat. Nauk. 29 no. 6 (180), 181–182 (1974).
- [Schr26-I] E. Schrödinger, Quantisierung als Eigenwertproblem (erste Mitteilung), Annalen der Physik (4) 79 361–376 (1926), translated into English in Collected papers on Wave Mechanics, Chelsea Publishing Company, NY, 1978.
- [Schr26-II] E. Schrödinger, Quantisierung als Eigenwertproblem (zweite Mitteilung), Annalen der Physik (4) 79 489–527 (1926), translated into English in Collected papers on Wave Mechanics, Chelsea Publishing Company, NY, 1978.
- [Schr26-III] E. Schrödinger, Über das Verhältnis der Heisenberg-Born-Jordanschen Quantenmechanik zu der meinen, Annalen der Physik (4) 79 734–756 (1926), translated into English in Collected papers on Wave Mechanics, Chelsea Publishing Company, NY, 1978.
- [SZ99] J. Sjöstrand and M. Zworski, Asymptotic distribution of resonances for convex obstacles, Acta Math. 183, 191–253 (1999)
- [Somm] A. Sommerfeld, Atombau und Spektrallinien, Dritte Auflage, Braunschweig (1922), traduction française La constitution de l'atome et les raies spectrales, A. Blanchard (1923).

- [St30] M. H. Stone, Linear transformations in Hilbert space III: operational methods and group theory, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 16, 172–175 (1930).
- [VV28] J. H. Van Vleck, The correspondence principle in the statistical interpretation of quantum mechanics, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 14, 178–188 (1928).
- [Vo95] D. Voiculescu, Dynamical approximation entropies and topological entropy in operator algebras, Comm. Math. Phys 170 249–281 (1995).
- [vN31] J. von Neumann, Die Eindeutigkeit des Schrödingerschen Operatoren, Math. Ann. 104, 570–578 (1931).
- [Vor] A. Voros, *Développements semi-classiques*, Thèse d'état (1977).
- [Vor77] A. Voros, Semiclassical ergodicity of quantum eigenstates in the Wigner representation, Stochastic Behavior in Classical and Quantum Hamiltonian Systems, G. Casati, J. Ford, eds., in: Proceedings of the Volta Memorial Conference, Como, Italy, 1977, Lect. Notes Phys. Springer-Verlag, Berlin 93, 326-333 (1979).
- [Vor78] A. Voros, An algebra of pseudodifferential operators and the asymptotics of quantum mechanics, J. Funct. An. **29**, 104–132 (1978).
- [Weh79] A. Wehrl, On the relation between classical and quantummechanical entropy, Rept. Math. Phys. 16, 353–358 (1979).
- [Wtz26] G. Wentzel, Eine Verallgemeinerung der quantenbedingungen für die Zwecke der Wellenmechanik, Zeitschrift f. Physik **38**, 518–529 (1926).
- [Weyl27] H. Weyl, Quantenmechanik und Gruppentheorie, Z. Physik 46, 1–46 (1927).
- [Wol01] S.A. Wolpert, The modulus of continuity for $\Gamma_0(m)/\mathbb{H}$ semiclassical limits, Commun. Math. Phys. **216**, 313–323 (2001).
- [Ze86] S. Zelditch, Pseudodifferential analysis on hyperbolic surfaces, J. Funct. Anal. 68 no. 1, 72–105 (1986).
- [Ze87] S. Zelditch, Uniform distribution of eigenfunctions on compact hyperbolic surfaces, Duke Math. J. 55 no. 4, 919–941 (1987).

- [Ze96] S. Zelditch, Quantum ergodicity of C^{*} dynamical systems, Commun. Math. Phys, 177, 507–528 (1996).
- [ZeZw96] S. Zelditch and M. Zworski, Ergodicity of eigenfunctions for ergodic billiards, Commun. Math. Phys, 175, 673–682 (1996).